

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

DETROIT BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS MEETING
DETROIT PUBLIC SAFETY HEADQUARTERS
1301 THIRD STREET
DETROIT, MICHIGAN 48226
HELD ON THURSDAY, OCTOBER 3, 2019 AT 3:00 P.M.

1 COMMISSIONERS PRESENT:

2

3 EVA GARZA DEWAELSCHÉ, Vice Chair, At Large

4 DARRYL D. BROWN, Commissioner (District 1)

5 EVETTE GRIFFIE, Commissioner (District 2)

6 SHIRLEY A. BURCH, Commissioner (District 3)

7 WILLIE BELL, Commissioner (District 4)

8 WILLIAM M. DAVIS, Commissioner (District 7)

9 ELIZABETH BROOKS, Commissioner, At Large

10 JIM HOLLEY, Commissioner, At Large

11 ANNIE HOLT, Commissioner, At Large

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

REPRESENTING THE CHIEF OF POLICE'S OFFICE

DEPUTY CHIEF WILSON

1 Detroit, Michigan

2 October 3, 2019

3 About 3:00 p.m.

4

5 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHE: Good afternoon. I'm
6 vice chair Eva Garza Dewaelsche and I will be conducting
7 the meeting today. On behalf of the board I want to
8 thank you for joining us and for those viewing the
9 meeting, thank you for viewing. Chairperson Lisa Carter
10 is unable to attend today's meeting. And Commissioner
11 Willie Burton has asked to be excused. We have invited
12 Chaplain Leonard Jackson to provide the invocation.
13 Chaplain, please come up.

14 (Invocation given.)

15 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHE: Thank you, Chaplain.
16 And now I'd like to ask the commissioners to please
17 introduce themselves starting with to my left.

18 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Good afternoon
19 Commissioner Darryl Brown, District 1.

20 MR. BELL: Willie Bell, District 4.

21 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: Elizabeth Brooks,
22 at-large.

23 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Good afternoon.
24 Shirley Burch, District 3.

25 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Good afternoon.

1 William Davis, District 7.

2 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Good afternoon. Annie
3 Holt, appointee, at-large.

4 MR. HICKS: Madam Chair, you have a quorum.

5 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Thank you and thank
6 you for being here commissioners. First business is
7 approval of the agenda. Is there a motion?

8 COMMISSIONER BURCH: So moved.

9 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Support.

10 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: It's been moved and
11 seconded. Is there any discussion? All those in favor
12 indicate by saying aye.

13 ALL: Aye.

14 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Opposed? Thank you.
15 Second, we have approval of the minutes for September
16 19th, 2019. Is there a motion?

17 MR. BELL: So moved.

18 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: Support.

19 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Is there any
20 discussion? Hearing none, all those in favor indicate
21 by saying aye.

22 MOST: Aye.

23 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Opposed?

24 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Nay.

25 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: The ayes have it.

1 At this time I'd like to ask board secretary Hicks if he
2 could introduce the BOPC staff.

3 MR. HICKS: Thank you, Madam Chair, I do
4 want to indicate just prior to making those just
5 housekeeping items that Sergeant Quinn is taping the
6 meeting. Media services is providing the audio/visual
7 and Caitlyn Hartley is the court reporter. And then
8 immediately to my right is of course the board attorney
9 and I'm going to ask members of the BOPC staff to stand
10 and introduce themselves and then we'll get around to
11 the office of the chief investigator. Dr. Polly
12 McCalister will make those introductions in addition to
13 introducing herself.

14 ATTORNEY WYRICK: Jermaine Wyrick board
15 attorney.

16 MR. BROWN: Robert Brown, board staff.

17 DR. ANDERSON: Dr. Marcella Anderson, police
18 HR.

19 MS. JOHNSON: Faye Johnson board accountant.

20 MS. BLOSSOM: Good afternoon, Teresa
21 Blossom, police community relations.

22 MS. WHITE: Good afternoon, Melanie White,
23 executive manager of policy.

24 DR. MCCALISTER: Good afternoon, board. I'm
25 Dr. Polly McCalister and attending today's meeting with

1 me today is supervising investigator Cromwell. Senior
2 investigator Jones. Senior investigator Rivera.
3 Investigator Washington. And investigator Banks. She's
4 on her way.

5 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHÉ: Thank you very much
6 and representing the chief today D.C. Wilson.

7 DEPUTY CHIEF WILSON: Good afternoon.

8 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHÉ: Could you please
9 introduce DPD staff.

10 DEPUTY CHIEF WILSON: I'll start with
11 director Ha and everybody else can introduce themselves.

12 (Several names mentioned.)

13 DEPUTY CHIEF WILSON: That's it.

14 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHÉ: Thank you, Chief.
15 At this time do we have elected officials that have
16 joined us today or representatives from their office?
17 Hearing none, then I will go to the chair person's
18 report. Yes, we've had two commissioners just join us
19 Commissioner Holley and -- go ahead, introduce.

20 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Fine.

21 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHÉ: Commissioner Holley.

22 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: You did a good job.

23 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHÉ: And Commissioner
24 Griffie. Thank you for joining us. As we do at each
25 meeting I want to express our concern and support for

1 fallen and injured officers and their families and our
2 concerns for officer safety and citizen protection is
3 ranked as two of the most important priorities. Our
4 board receives a weekly report from a department listing
5 injured officers and I would ask the Chief during his
6 remarks to provide us with any additional information.
7 The Board of Police Commissioners meets every week
8 except for Thanksgiving and Christmas holidays and we
9 meet here at police headquarters three weeks of the
10 month and Thursday -- on Thursdays at 3 p.m. but we also
11 meet in the community the second Thursday of every month
12 at 6:30. Under the Detroit city charter Article 7
13 Chapter 8 the board is empowered to provide civilian
14 oversight and supervisory control of the police
15 department. Our board investigates noncriminal citizens
16 complaints, monitors department for compliance with all
17 laws and reviews and modifies police policy to eliminate
18 misconduct, discriminatory police practices and
19 unnecessary use of force. As a civilian oversight
20 agency we protect the civil rights of our citizens. Our
21 objective is to increase the quality of life for
22 residents and visitors of Detroit.

23 I want to point to several important items
24 for your consideration. NACOLE, the National
25 Association of Civilian Oversight of Law Enforcement

1 completed its successful conference here in Detroit and
2 by all accounts from the attendees and those that were
3 involved it was a very well attended, nearly 500
4 registered for the event and it was content rich.
5 Additionally, the BOPC also celebrated its 45th year as
6 a local civilian oversight board. The 45th anniversary
7 dinner was well attended. Our key note speaker Christy
8 Lopez was outstanding and provided important insights
9 into the work of local oversight organizations.

10 Mayor Duggan and other distinguished guests
11 along with ten former police commissioners enjoyed an
12 evening of fellowship and accomplishments. We also had
13 strong representation from the community and a wide
14 network of law enforcement people. I want to thank
15 Commissioners Elizabeth Brooks for her leadership
16 related to the anniversary dinner. Later in our meeting
17 I have asked staff to provide a brief over view of the
18 conference and the dinner. We have a full agenda today.
19 We have two posthumous resolutions acknowledging the
20 life of Investigator Larry Stephens and police officer
21 Carlton Orange. I hope that you will join with the
22 board in recognizing the great contributions that both
23 of these law enforcement professionals gave to our city.
24 We also have a third resolution for the retirement of
25 Corporal Charles Henley, a 50 year veteran of the police

1 department. Immediately following my report I will ask
2 for a motion to correct our organizational chart so that
3 it will conform to our existing bylaws. Under
4 presentations to the board, I have asked Ms. Melanie
5 White and Ms. Teresa Blossom to report on the NACOLE
6 conference and the 45th anniversary dinner. Under the
7 chief's report I request that an update be provided on
8 crime statistics and critical issues facing the police
9 department.

10 I also ask that you note several months ago
11 the chief of police reported on a problem involving
12 officers who had a history of untruthfulness and were
13 impeding the prosecutions of potential criminals. I ask
14 the chief to update us on this probe into the department
15 and his efforts to confront and resolve this issue. I
16 have asked our staff to pull the relevant police
17 policies impacting this issue and a copy of these
18 policies in your board packages. At the end of the
19 meeting we will have public comments from the audience.
20 Please make sure that your name is on a speaker's card.
21 Cards are located at the back table and can be obtained
22 by seeing Mr. Robert Brown. He will need your card
23 before the end of the chief's report. We will hold each
24 speaker to the allotted two minutes. I ask that
25 everyone place your cell phones and other electronic

1 devices on vibrate to make sure that they are not
2 interrupting the meeting. At this time I'm going to ask
3 for a motion regarding the organization chart
4 resolution.

5 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Thank you, Chair. I
6 move that the Board of Police Commissioners accept
7 resolution for organizational chart to reflect bylaws.

8 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Second.

9 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHÉ: The motion -- a
10 motion has been made. It has been seconded. Is there
11 any discussion?

12 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Yeah, Madam Chair. Why
13 now are we seeing this change again? We've had no
14 discussion on it as like before with the other
15 organizational chart and looking at it now, and I think
16 the only change I see is the chief investigator now is
17 reporting to the board secretary, and I see that we have
18 a blurb in here talking about the charter and how we
19 hire and if these are the two top offices that we hire
20 for the board and they both have two separate functions,
21 one runs the office of chief investigator, the other
22 runs the day to day staff directly for the board, why do
23 we change this and what was the reasons behind it?
24 Because this is not consistent with basically what the
25 charter says in my opinion.

1 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: It was my
2 understanding that the board chart was not in compliance
3 the way it had been approved previously with the two
4 positions the board secretary and the chief investigator
5 reporting directly to the board. Is there any
6 clarification on that?

7 MR. BELL: Madam Chair, this chart reflect
8 historically how this board has functioned and I think
9 some of the commissioners previous serving this board
10 would indicate that the focal point is the board
11 secretary and dealing with the staff. That was the case
12 when I worked for the board for five years and we trying
13 to be consistent with the bylaws that we structured and
14 there was oversight in terms of structuring the
15 alignment of the chart. So we just want to rectify.
16 That is the process that we want to bring to the board
17 attention. I think there was some concern when we even
18 drafted the first we somewhat ignored that but now we
19 have opportunity to make sure we consistent with the
20 charter and also with the organization and the bylaws
21 that we established.

22 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Through the chair.

23 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Yes.

24 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: I recall when we had
25 our meeting there were people -- there were

1 commissioners that were on both sides of the -- some of
2 the commissioners wanted, actually preferred this
3 structure and others had other opinions around what the
4 order structure should be. I think given the fact that
5 we are out of compliance with the bylaws that's the
6 reason that I am supporting because, so if we want to
7 make -- if there's a bylaw change that we -- if there's
8 a change we want to make to this work structure, I feel
9 that it needs to be -- it needs to go through the bylaws
10 in order to make that happen. I don't know if we have
11 the authority to change that.

12 MR. BELL: The bylaws speak to that. Bylaws
13 speaks to the language of -- we have copy of the bylaws?

14 MR. WYRICK: Not on me. I could get a copy
15 of it.

16 MR. BELL: Can you get a copy of the bylaws?
17 We can move on and come back to this.

18 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Yeah, I guess my
19 point is that if we -- if one of the -- if a
20 commissioner or commissioners want to change this, then
21 we need to change the bylaws.

22 MR. BELL: No, the by laws consistent.

23 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Oh we can't change
24 the bylaws?

25 MR. BELL: We can change the bylaws but that

1 is a process.

2 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Yes. I'm saying that
3 if there are commissioners that want to see this work
4 structure changed to not reflect the bylaws today, then
5 we need to follow the process to change the bylaws and
6 not change the work structure.

7 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Madam Chair.

8 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Yes.

9 COMMISSIONER BROWN: I move to table some of
10 so we can have some discussion on it. If there's a
11 bylaw change that's needed before we go in this
12 direction, I think we should talk about this and then
13 come up with amicable solution with a bylaw change
14 before we go back into this structure; and this is
15 something that, I mean, if that's the case, the HR
16 director should be reporting to the secretary, even
17 though she may serve at the pleasure of the chief but
18 she's hired by the board. You know, and, you know, if
19 we really need to talk about adapting to it, I think we
20 need to just table this and have a discussion about it
21 so I move to table this.

22 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Support.

23 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: We have a motion on
24 the floor currently. Is there any further discussion
25 so?

1 MR. BELL: I'll just clear up the point
2 about the director personnel. The charter's clear that
3 director person does not report to the board; we hire
4 but she work with the chief of police. It's clear on
5 that. It's been consistent since 1974.

6 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Yeah, other
7 discussion?

8 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Madam Chair, I think
9 his motion to table is considered a motion, so we have
10 to take that up first before we take up the original
11 motion.

12 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Is there a second?

13 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: I second.

14 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: It's been moved and
15 seconded that we table this. All those in favor
16 indicate by saying -- oh I'm sorry, any discussion?
17 Hearing none all those in favor indicate by saying aye.

18 SOME: Aye.

19 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Opposed?

20 MR. BELL: Opposed.

21 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Oppose.

22 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Nay.

23 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Nay.

24 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Can we take a
25 rollcall vote please?

1 MR. HICKS: Yes. Commissioner Brown?

2 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Yeah. I support the
3 motion to table.

4 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: No.

5 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: No.

6 MR. BELL: No.

7 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: No.

8 COMMISSIONER BURCH: I support.

9 MR. HICKS: Commissioner?

10 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Support.

11 COMMISSIONER HOLT: No.

12 MR. HICKS: Commissioner?

13 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHÉ: No.

14 MR. HICKS: Nos have it, Commissioner. The
15 motion failed, so you will now proceed to the original
16 motion that's on the floor.

17 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHÉ: Okay, the original
18 motion was to?

19 MR. HICKS: Approve the changes.

20 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHÉ: That are presented
21 in your package.

22 MR. HICKS: Yes.

23 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHÉ: Okay is there any
24 further discussion? Hearing none all those in favor
25 indicate by saying aye.

1 SOME: Aye.

2 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Opposed?

3 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Nay.

4 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Nay.

5 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Abstentions?

6 MR. HICKS: The motion is approved. There
7 are three individuals voting against it. The rest of
8 the board voted in support.

9 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Thank you. At this
10 time we have three resolutions and I would ask that
11 commissioner -- I'm sorry the first resolution is
12 Commissioner Brooks. Thank you.

13 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: I'm going to sit if
14 you don't mind.

15 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Yes, well, two of
16 them posthumous.

17 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: Whereas Larry A.
18 Stephens was appointed to the Detroit public department
19 on September the 19th, 1994. Upon graduating from the
20 metropolitan police academy Officer Stephens began his
21 career at the 9th precinct; and whereas Officer Stephens
22 dutifully served the 9th precinct and the Cotta
23 Conforcement (sic) southeast division before being
24 promoted to investigate on October the 27th, 2000, and
25 being reassigned to the narcotic enforcement division.

1 He also served the 9th precinct
2 Investigative Operation Unit and the Eastern District
3 Criminal Investigation Unit. On Sunday September the
4 29th, 2019 after 25 years of service Investigator Larry
5 Stephens, badge 1-0123 passed away; and whereas during
6 his law enforcement career Investigator Stephens was a
7 deserving recipient of one perfect attendant award,
8 three chief citation award, the major league baseball
9 all star recognition award, and Rosa Parks Funeral
10 recognition award, the Superbowl XL recognition award
11 and numerous letters of commendations and citizens and
12 superiors; and whereas, Investigator Stephens tirelessly
13 served the Detroit Police Department, the citizens of
14 Detroit and its neighboring communities for 25 years.
15 His professionalism, commitment to public service,
16 integrity and dedication were a credit to the department
17 -- to the Detroit Police Department. He trained and and
18 mentored numerous officers and contributed to the
19 development of many adapt professional law enforcement
20 personnel today. He was highly respected by the
21 citizens from whom he served as a consummate
22 professional.

23 Now, therefore, be it resolved that the
24 Detroit Board of Police Commissioners speaking for the
25 citizens of Detroit and Detroit Police Department award

1 this resolution posthumously in recognition of
2 Investigator Larry A. Stephens, 25 years of dedication
3 and diligent public service. His professionalism,
4 integrity and standard of commitment to the city of
5 Detroit and its citizens merit our highest regard. We
6 the police commissioners solute you Investigator Larry
7 **A. Stephens for a job well done.**

8 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Thank you,
9 Commissioner. Is there a motion to approve?

10 COMMISSIONER BROWN: So moved.

11 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Support.

12 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: It's been moved and
13 seconded. All those in favor indicate by saying aye.

14 ALL: Aye.

15 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Opposed? Thank you.
16 Now we have a resolution that Commissioner Davis is
17 going to read.

18 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Resolution honoring
19 police officer Carlton S. Orange posthumously. Whereas
20 Carlton Orange was assigned to the Detroit Police
21 Department on January 1st, 1998 upon graduating from the
22 metropolitan police academy, Officer Orange began his
23 career at the 11 precinct and whereas, Officer Orange
24 dutifully served the 11th precinct, court liaison, 6th
25 precinct, central division, the 3rd precinct; and on

1 Monday September 16th, 2019 police officer Carlton S.
2 Orange badge 4440 passed away. And whereas, during his
3 law enforcement career Officer Orange was the deserving
4 recipient of the chief citations, the major league
5 baseball all star recognition award, the Rosa Parks
6 Funeral recognition award, the Superbowl recognition
7 award and numerous letters of commendation from citizens
8 and superiors. And whereas Officer Orange passionately
9 served the Detroit Police Department and the citizens of
10 Detroit, his professionalism, commitment to public
11 service, integrity, dedication were a credit to the
12 Detroit Police Department. He was highly respected by
13 his peers as a consummate professional. Now therefore
14 be it resolved that the Detroit Board of Police
15 Commissioners speaking for the citizens of Detroit and
16 Detroit Police Department award this resolution
17 posthumously in recognition of police officer Carlton
18 Orange, 21 and a half years of dedicated diligent public
19 service. His professionalism, integrity and standard of
20 commitment to the city of Detroit and its citizens
21 merits our highest regard. We solute you police officer
22 Carlton Orange for a job well done. I move.

23 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHÉ: Thank you,
24 Commissioner. It's been moved. Is there a second?

25 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Second.

1 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: All those in favor
2 indicate by saying aye.

3 ALL: Aye.

4 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Opposed? Thank you.
5 Motion carries. We have a third resolution and I'm
6 going to ask Commissioner Bell if he would please read
7 that.

8 MR. BELL: Corporal Charles Henley would you
9 please come forward. I'll meet you at the podium.
10 Madam Chair, the board and DPD it is an honor and
11 privilege to stand here with this young man here. We
12 all know his years of service and even my kids had an
13 opportunity to interface with the Blue Pigs. If you did
14 not interface with the Blue Pigs, you did not grow up in
15 the city of Detroit and I can't say enough in reference
16 to -- I couldn't make your celebration; we had the
17 national conference here last week but as you well know
18 I have a great deal of respect for Sidney Holmes, all
19 those young men who really brought crime prevention to
20 another level; so but I guess I'm here to read this
21 resolution, so I'll stop my personal remarks.

22 Resolution honoring retiring Corporal
23 Charles T. Henley. As you well know we didn't have
24 Corporals back then. Charles Henley whereas Charles
25 Henley was appointed to the Detroit Police Department

1 September the 2nd, 1969. I wish Chief Craig was here.
2 1969 upon graduating from the Detroit police academy.
3 Officer Henley served the Precinct Support Unit, PSU as
4 we called it back in the day. He dutifully served
5 Precinct Support Unit, 12th precinct, Community Relation
6 P.A.L. I think he made his mark at P.A.L., 13th
7 precinct, crime prevention section, public information
8 office (Blue Pigs), crime prevention section again, the
9 1st precinct, Operations Portfolio, Central DIstrict,
10 Police Community Service, Central Events and Police Law.
11 Police Officer Henley displayed tremendous diligence and
12 aptitude in his assignment. All his assignment. On
13 October 18, 19 -- I'm sorry 2018 he was promoted to the
14 rank of Corporal and continued to serve police law until
15 retirement. I wondered where you disappeared to.

16 During his law enforcement career Corporal
17 Henley a member of the legendary Blue Pigs formed in
18 1970. That was before my career, 1971. The department
19 community outreach the band played popular music and
20 provided positive messages to generations of Detroit
21 school children. He was the deserving recipient of two
22 Chief's Unit Awards, a Chief Merit Award, Perfect
23 Attendnace Award, Perfect Driving Award, Consent
24 Judgment Award, the Major League Baseball All-Star
25 Recognition Award, the Rosa Parks Funeral Recognition

1 Award, the Super Bowl XL Recognition Award, the Harvey
2 Relief Award as well as commendations from supervisors
3 and numerous letters of appreciation from citizenry. I
4 don't know how you framed all that communication you got
5 from young people but they still talking about the Blue
6 Pigs.

7 Corporal Henley has tirelessly served the
8 Detroit Police Department, the citizens of Detroit and
9 its neighboring communities -- not in Detroit but so
10 many interactions in metropolitan Detroit. I think you
11 traveled nationally too, right? He traveled nationally,
12 yes. So many events. For 50 years. A remarkable
13 milestone in any career, five decades of law enforcement
14 duty merit special appreciation for Corporal Henley.
15 His professionalism, commitment to public service,
16 integrity and dedication have been a credit to the
17 Detroit Police Department. He is highly respected as a
18 consummate professional.

19 Now, therefore, be it resolved that Detroit
20 Board of Police Commissioners speaking for citizens of
21 Detroit and Detroit Police Department award this
22 resolution in recognition of Corporal Henley 50 years of
23 dedication and diligent public service. His
24 professionalism, integrity and lifelong commitment to
25 the city of Detroit merit our highest regard. And we

1 thank and congratulate you, Corporal Charles Henley.

2 Thank you.

3 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Corporal, if you
4 would, would you like to say a few words?

5 MR. BELL: Yeah, he going to say
6 (inaudible). Now a young man of 50 years service coming
7 to the mic.

8 CORPORAL HENLEY: Fantastic. After two
9 weeks of celebrations, and fantastic honors, what a way
10 to finish this up with the Detroit Board of Police
11 Commissioners. It's the cherry on top of that sundae.
12 Thank you; this is fantastic. And I appreciate all the
13 work done by every officer in the Detroit Police
14 Department. I was lucky enough to be in that Blue Pigs
15 43 years and we're glad that half the year whittles
16 (sic) are the ones that passed away, that was tremendous
17 inspiration. But thank you from the top to all the
18 people that work here. It's just you've actually
19 provided me more than any one man could ever wish for.

20 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Thank you so much.
21 Congratulations.

22 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Through the vice chair.
23 My daughters saw this posting on Facebook and contacted
24 me and asked if the Blue Pigs is still performing in the
25 public schools?

1 MR. BELL: Unfortunate, they stopped
2 performing what year, sir?

3 CORPORAL HENLEY: July 30th, 2013.

4 MR. BELL: Thank you.

5 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Is there some reason why
6 we couldn't resurrect the community outreach
7 opportunity?

8 MR. BELL: I don't think we can speak to
9 that at this time. That is strictly with the chief of
10 police.

11 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Thank you.

12 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Thank you and you
13 have a motion Mr. Bell?

14 MR. BELL: So moved.

15 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Support.

16 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: All those in favor
17 indicate by saying aye.

18 ALL: Aye.

19 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Thank you again
20 Corporal Henley. At this time I'm going to ask the
21 Chief Deputy Chief Wilson to provide us with the chief's
22 report. Thank you.

23 DEPUTY CHIEF WILSON: Thank you. I'll start
24 update on injured officers. Officer Waldis Johnson is
25 currently at a long-term care facility recovering from a

1 gun shot wound. Officer Christopher Therssen is
2 recovering at home due to a motorcycle accident.
3 Officer Mario Rodriguez is recovering at home due to a
4 gun shot wound. Officer Michael Reyes-Morales is
5 recovering at home after being pinned between two
6 vehicles. Officer Darius Tolbert is recovering at home
7 due to a motor vehicle accident and Officer Dattahn Wade
8 is recovering at home due to an accident as well.

9 Move on to crime. As of September 30th,
10 we're showing a 1 percent reduction in homicide. A 0.1
11 percent reduction in sexual assaults. Aggravated
12 assaults are down 3.6 percent. Nonfatal shootings are
13 up 3.2 percent. Robberies are down 1 percent.
14 Carjackings 23 percent for an overall reduction of part
15 one violent crimes of 2.8 percent. Burglaries are
16 showing a reduction of 7.5 percent. Larcenies 3.2
17 percent. Showing a slight uptick in auto theft 2.4
18 percent, for an overall reduction in property crimes of
19 3 percent. And that's the crime.

20 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Thank you, Chief.
21 Are there any questions? I'm sorry. Commissioner?

22 DEPUTY CHIEF WILSON: Through the chair,
23 then you also had a question as to the truthfulness.
24 Attorney Grant Ha is going to speak to that.

25 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: He can do that now.

1 ATTORNEY HA: Commissioners, Grant Ha, DPD.
2 So in regards to the untruthfulness as of last year in
3 October of 2018 we sent out a teletype throughout our
4 entire department reminding the officers of their
5 ethical obligations in regards to truthfulness and
6 honesty to the performance of their duties to the
7 Detroit Police Department and obligations that they owe
8 not only to the Detroit Police Department but to the
9 citizens for which they serve. So once that teletype
10 was out it was noticed to the members to be truthful, be
11 honest and to provide truthful statements when they're
12 preparing official reports. Now the commitment that the
13 department gave to the members and the teletype is that
14 when a member is charged in regards to something serious
15 in regards to an untruthful statement, we would look at
16 it in a very -- you're talking about someone's integrity
17 and you're also talking about someone's career. So we
18 give them the obligation that we're going to do a very
19 thorough investigation and after the thorough
20 investigation if charges are brought and adjudication
21 that results in a finding of untruthfulness or
22 dishonesty or making a false statement in regards to an
23 official report, the officer would be terminated. And
24 that is our commitment to the Detroit Police Department,
25 its officers and to the citizens of the city of Detroit.

1 We have fired officers who after adjudication we've
2 determined that they've made false statements or made
3 false report; and, currently, I think the very first one
4 since that teletype is going to be heard in November. I
5 believe that's the Steel, Garrison matter. If you
6 recall that's the one in regards to the posting that was
7 I think it was widely publicized and that's going to go
8 to an arbitrator. The arbitrator per contract is the
9 ultimate decision maker even after the chief makes a
10 determination in regards to an untruthful statement; the
11 arbitrator will examine the facts of the case and the
12 contract and the obligations and then make a
13 determination as to whether or not the chief's
14 determination in regards to truthfulness will stand or
15 not.

16 Now just by way of history the Detroit
17 police officer's association did file an unfair labor
18 charge against the Detroit Police Department and it went
19 forward to the -- for a Merck hearing, but it was
20 adjourned without a hearing date. So once we get a
21 resolution in regards to the unfair labor charge, I'll
22 give you notifications in regards to what the results
23 were. And likewise after the arbitration in regards to
24 the misconduct involving Garrison Steel, I'll be more
25 than happy to update this honorable body in regards to

1 the update.

2 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Thank you Attorney
3 Ha. Are there any questions of the commissioners?

4 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Yes.

5 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Go ahead,
6 Commissioner.

7 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: So when you determine
8 an officer lied in court, are they also charged
9 criminally?

10 ATTORNEY HA: So if an officer has been
11 found to have perjured themselves in court, that would
12 be something that would be brought over to internal
13 affairs for investigation and at the conclusion if
14 internal affairs unit or section makes a determination
15 that the officer did perjure themselves, then yes it
16 would be prosecuted.

17 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: I would hope so since
18 we have a mayor that's in jail for that.

19 ATTORNEY HA: Absolutely.

20 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Madam Chair?

21 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Yes.

22 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Chief or Attorney Ha.
23 I remember something like this coming before concerning
24 the Giglio matters, if that falls under the lying, and
25 there was a list of officers there were on that

1 paperwork. So my question is those officers that were
2 on that list and any potentials are they working in any
3 units that could put them at risk to be involved in
4 something like that, like i.e., you know, narcotics or
5 things like that?

6 ATTORNEY HA: Let me just distinguish what a
7 Giglio list is. So a Giglio list is not something that
8 the Detroit Police Department maintains nor does it
9 prepare. A Giglio list is prepared by the prosecutor's
10 office. And that list is prepared after, so if there's
11 some indication that the officer has been untruthful
12 even if there's adjudication by the Detroit Police
13 Department that the officer has been untruthful, once
14 the prosecutor receives such information that the
15 officer has been untruthful or has made a false
16 statement or prepared a false document, they have to
17 take that and they have to give the officer an
18 opportunity to have a Giglio hearing. At a Giglio
19 hearing an impartial judge will make a determination as
20 to whether or not the officer is Giglio impaired. If
21 the officer has been determined by an impartial judge to
22 be Giglio impaired, then the prosecutor would be placing
23 that individual on a Giglio list.

24 So in regards to a list there were a list of
25 officers that were untruthful that were provided and we

1 are examining those individuals to see if they can be
2 moved but there are contractual issues in regards to the
3 officers' respective collective bargaining agreement so
4 if it's the DPOA or DPLSA, so forth, you can't just
5 transfer somebody. If an individual is working in a
6 blue slip unit where you don't have to give a reason,
7 the individual can be moved but if they're in a unit
8 that you can't just move, you have to do it -- there has
9 to be a reason for it. And to just move an officer
10 because the officer has an untruthful statement from the
11 past, it may be considered a double jeopardy because
12 you're punishing the officer for something that the
13 officer has been punished in the past for.

14 Let's say in the past administration an
15 officer has made a false statement and through the
16 adjudication the officer was given a 10 day or 30 day
17 suspension. If at this point, we go ahead and transfer
18 that individual again for that particular misconduct,
19 then it would be punishing the officer or it would be
20 argued that we would be punishing that officer again.

21 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Any other questions
22 from commissioners?

23 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: About how many officers
24 are on that list?

25 ATTORNEY HA: So at the conclusion of my

1 study and investigation there are 74 officers.

2 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Any other questions
3 commissioners?

4 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Just one more point I
5 want to clarify this is my intention was to make sure
6 that we're protecting the officers to keep them out of
7 harm's way to be in those situations again. And I know
8 it happens a lot with the specialty units.

9 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Any other questions
10 commissioners? Could you let the us know what Giglio
11 stands for?

12 ATTORNEY HA: Sure. Giglio is a United
13 States Supreme Court case that came out in 1975. It's
14 -- what it says is that it is the prosecutor's duty and
15 obligation to provide any relevant impeachable material
16 to the criminal defense attorney.

17 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Okay. Thank you. I
18 didn't know if it was an acronym or a person's name.
19 Thank you. Any other questions? Hearing none, thank
20 you Attorney Ha. And then we did have some questions on
21 the chief's report. Reverend -- Commissioner Holley?

22 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Yeah, can you -- still
23 looking for an update for the officer that was in the
24 hospital with the nude lady, still looking at where are
25 we with that.

1 DEPUTY CHIEF WILSON: You're talking about
2 Corporal Jones? You want to speak on that?

3 ATTORNEY HA: So we are I believe that the
4 matter was brought up for a disciplinary hearing and
5 then the matter had to be adjourned for further
6 analysis.

7 DEPUTY CHIEF WILSON: So I'll get an update
8 from the chief's office and bring it to the board.

9 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Thank you. Any
10 other questions for the chief regarding his report?

11 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Yeah, Madam Chair, I
12 had a question.

13 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Commissioner.

14 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Question, we had the
15 NACOLE conference; I like the direction that everything
16 was going and I sat in the workshop that talked about
17 overtime and stress and fatigue; and one of the things
18 that jumped out at me that we're not tracking is, that
19 I'd like to see us do, is are we tracking the amount of
20 overtime hours in conjunction with the secondary
21 employment hours that our officers working? So say for
22 instance that officers working 16 hours Monday through
23 Friday, they're supposed to be off Saturday and Sunday
24 instead he work secondary employment Saturday and Sunday
25 and then back to 16 hours Monday. One of the things

1 they showed in that report, and I'll get you a copy --
2 matter of fact I got it right here.

3 DEPUTY CHIEF WILSON: Great.

4 COMMISSIONER BROWN: One of the things they
5 identify was the correlation between officer fatigue and
6 complaint and we noted our complaints are mainly high on
7 the rise of procedure and demeanor and I just wonder are
8 we tracking that, that when we have officers that have
9 demeanor and procedure complaint, are we looking at the
10 fact that, well, wait a minute this guy he may be
11 overworked? He's working all these hours and always go,
12 go, go, go, go, go. Are we tracking how overtime is
13 dished out and how many hours they can work?

14 DEPUTY CHIEF WILSON: We actually do track
15 the hours. You brought up secondary employment. So
16 that is something that they do take an account; if a
17 person has worked 16 hours, they won't give them a shift
18 to work 8 hours, so there is a formula that they look at
19 but I like something that you point out and I don't
20 think there's a mechanism that we have to track the
21 correlation between, you know, fatigue, overtime and
22 complaints.

23 COMMISSIONER BROWN: I have some good
24 examples. I'll get you a copy.

25 DEPUTY CHIEF WILSON: 'Cause right now A.C.

1 LeValley and Assistant Chief White they have overtime
2 lien project, I can ask them can they actually fold that
3 into their project.

4 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Okay.

5 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: I have a question.

6 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: If I can just add
7 something to Commissioner Brown's question and -- or as
8 it relates to what we can do. When we get complaints is
9 there a mechanism for us to determine if that officer is
10 also working secondary employment or do we even ask that
11 question?

12 DR. MCCALISTER: We don't ask.

13 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Thank you. I'm
14 sorry, Commissioner Davis.

15 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Also do we track like
16 if someone does a lot of overtime if they also have more
17 accidents or officers have an accident in relationship
18 to doing overtime especially?

19 DEPUTY CHIEF WILSON: To answer the
20 individual commands do but there's no like consistent
21 mechanism in place to track that. But that's something
22 else we can look into.

23 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Thank you.

24 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Any other questions,
25 comments? Thank you, Chief, for your report. And now

1 we have asked for a presentation on the summary of the
2 NACOLE conference. And we're going to have community
3 relations Teresa Blossom and executive manager Melanie
4 White from the BOPC office.

5 MS. WHITE: Good afternoon, board. My name
6 is Melanie White, executive manager of policy.

7 MS. BLOSSOM: Good afternoon, Teresa
8 Blossom, police community relations coordinator.

9 MS. WHITE: And as I already mentioned we
10 are providing an updated on the National Association for
11 Civilian Oversight of Law Enforcement conference that
12 Detroit Board of Police Commissioners the honorable
13 board hosted this past week from September 22nd through
14 the 26th at the renaissance center Mariott, Detroit,
15 Michigan. This year's conference theme was celebrating
16 NACOLE at 25 years and courage, collaboration and
17 community.

18 This year's conference was a beautiful
19 conference, very well attended and it exceeded the
20 conference attendees' expectations. The NACOLE
21 conference committee chairpersons included the
22 following: Brian Corr, the immediate past president of
23 NACOLE, Commissioner Willie E. Bell immediate past
24 chairperson and NACOLE board member as well as Cathleen
25 Beltz who is a NACOLE board member. And Ms. Cameron

1 McElhiney who is NACOLE's director of training and
2 education. The annual conference planning committee for
3 NACOLE and the subcommittees met each month over the
4 past year to discuss the annual conference as well as
5 evaluate and identify key workshops, some of which
6 you've already mentioned, and panel discussions that
7 conference attendees would find valuable and useful.
8 Other subcommittees arranged to ensure success included
9 the 25th anniversary committee, the conference track
10 subcommittee, and the attend engagement subcommittees.

11 Ultimately, the annual conference planning
12 committee and the NACOLE board selected from reviewing
13 100, some 100 conference proposals that were submitted
14 from other oversight agencies from around the country,
15 the NACOLE board and the conference planning committee
16 selected some 37 conference sessions to align with
17 NACOLE's conference tracks and with core competencies.
18 Two Detroit proposals were accepted, the -- consisting
19 of the following: The Detroit Evolution and the role of
20 independent counsel for civilian oversight and
21 ultimately, Detroit commissioners and staff participated
22 in three workshop discussions. One, being hearing
23 multiple voices, town hall meetings in a volatile
24 environment with our very own spectacular speaker
25 chairperson Lisa Carter, Detroit Board of Police

1 Commissioners. The Detroit Evolution was another
2 workshop presentation that the honorable board
3 participated in panel discussion featuring our dynamic
4 speakers immediate past chairperson Commissioner Willie
5 E. Bell and chief of police, James E. Craig of the
6 Detroit Police Department. And also the role of
7 independent counsel for civilian oversight with our very
8 own remarkable attorney Jermaine Wyrick, Detroit Board
9 of Police Commissioners, Professor Peter Hammer. All of
10 the panelists were from Michigan and you see the rest of
11 the panel is listed.

12 As mentioned before Detroit exceeded the
13 conference attendees' expectations with regards to the
14 first presentation where Commissioner Carter,
15 Chairperson Carter participated in, that session
16 discussed unique challenges relating to public
17 engagement and transparency. The second workshop
18 discussion that we participated in examined three
19 different oversight models, types of public engagement
20 and outreach; why leadership matters in achieving police
21 and community focused policing. And then of course the
22 last workshop session, the role of independent counsel
23 examined benefits of independent counsel for civilian
24 oversight and its promoting accountability and
25 independence. Also during the workshop or during the

1 conference the opening key note speaker was the
2 honorable Judith E. Levy, which was Monday, September
3 23rd and she discussed the 13 year long consent decree
4 process for the Detroit Board of Police Commissioners
5 and the Detroit Police Department and then our key note
6 luncheon and awards ceremony speaker was Barbara
7 McQuade, the professor from practice University of
8 Michigan law school and she referred to civilian
9 oversight practitioners as doctors of democracy and told
10 oversight practitioners to go out and heal.

11 The NACOLE's core competencies and
12 conference track descriptions consist of the following:
13 The core competencies are civilian oversight of law
14 enforcement, investigations, the public and
15 transparency, law, law enforcement policies and
16 procedures, and remediation. The conference sessions
17 were aligned under several four track descriptions:
18 Training, community trust, institutional culture and
19 correctional oversight, and collaboration.

20 And then this next slide just shows you the
21 actual conference sessions and you have that in detail
22 in your conference program booklet as well as in your
23 conference guide book that should be available on your
24 app and that app also consists all of the conference
25 session materials for each session, which you can access

1 at your convenience and your leisure.

2 Additionally, some of the other planning
3 items for the NACOLE 25th conference consisted of the
4 the Sankofa reception, which was held in the GM world
5 headquarters winter garden. There was a wreath release
6 where founders, board members, the host board Detroit
7 Board of Police Commissioners, and other dignitaries
8 participated where they released a wreath in the water
9 commemorating 25 years of service in national police
10 oversight. There was also a commemorative program
11 booklet that highlighted and displayed oversight
12 agencies from around the country and you saw some of
13 those displays throughout your visit and your stay at
14 the Detroit Marriott.

15 And NACOLE also mailed and submitted special
16 invitations to NACOLE's founders, past board members,
17 NACOLE's supporters, oversight leaders, advocates, and
18 activists to specially invite those members to the 25th
19 annual conference. There was also music entertainment
20 at the Sankofa reception that consisted of the world
21 renowned jazz ensemble Straight Ahead. And the Cass
22 Technical High School marching band to commemorate the
23 wreath release and the 25th years of service for NACOLE.
24 And there were also souvenirs, special guests -- or
25 special gifts for conference attendees commemorating 25

1 years. You should have received your souvenir bags,
2 your pens, paperweights, and other items. And also a
3 special thanks to Imperial Fresh Markets and
4 Commissioner Shirley Burch for providing snacks and
5 other items for the conference.

6 MS. BLOSSOM: With respect to the
7 celebration that also took part during the week that
8 Detroit hosted NACOLE I wanted to talk about the 45th
9 anniversary of the 1974 charter and its role in the
10 vibrancy of Detroit as a national model for civilian
11 oversight. One of the things that kicked off of course
12 was that we organized early on and developed an honorary
13 host committee and our special thanks go again to U.S.
14 Senator Carl Levin retired, Elliott Hall and Elliott
15 Hall noted the legendary attorney who came aboard early
16 and help galvanize community support. Along with our
17 other honorary host Mayor Duggan and city council
18 president Brenda Jones, we were able to make sure that
19 our civic partners understood the events and what
20 Detroit was trying to accomplish in terms of welcoming
21 NACOLE for the first time ever to our city and also
22 making sure that we pay homage to the men and woman of
23 the 1960s and '70s who clearly had a very visionary
24 frame work for the civilian oversight function and how
25 it endured for 45 years.

1 We held the first opportunity for support by
2 making sure that our civic partners came on board.
3 These are a few of them for both the 45th anniversary
4 celebration and for the NACOLE conference. The initial
5 community celebration was actually a homage to the first
6 meeting of the 1974 board. It was part of the board of
7 police commissioners regular monthly evening meeting,
8 Thursday July 11th, which coincided with the meeting in
9 the 11th precinct -- excuse me in the 10th precinct,
10 which of course was part of the pivotal area in the 1967
11 rebellion against police brutality, and how the 1974
12 charter grew out of the reformence that people sought
13 for that.

14 Another special tie-in to NACOLE was that we
15 scheduled the last formal celebration of the 1974
16 charter with past and current commissioners gathering on
17 Tuesday, September 24th, which made for a very memorable
18 event. 67 -- excuse me 61 diverse men and women have
19 served in the board's history as police commissioners.
20 Many at the event came from other states. Others sent
21 representatives, family members of one of the original
22 members Charles Butler were in attendance. Also family
23 members of our former Commissioner Derrick Sanders
24 attended to highlight his memory and service. They also
25 had a special solute for Mayor Mike Duggan, who truly

1 expressed the city's appreciation and all the previous
2 mayors for the unique public service that police
3 commissioners perform year after year and give in doing
4 their charter mandated duties all as volunteers.

5 As Ms. White indicated we had speakers both
6 at NACOLE and at the 45th anniversary celebration that
7 truly galvanized with inspiration; at the 45th
8 anniversary it was former Department of Justice
9 appointee during the Obama era, Christy Lopez. Her
10 speech on police transformation helped give valuable
11 insights and lessons and a little bit more inspiration
12 for this era that we find ourselves in with the current
13 administration in Washington. Along with special
14 presentations by your honorable body to special award
15 recipients named in honor of that original board. We
16 also had a tremendous event MC and Stephanie Davis who
17 also did several news reports and shared those with CBS
18 audiences.

19 I also want to talk a bit about the Detroit
20 youth participation because we were at different
21 segments of the event able to involve youth. In
22 addition to shepherding two interns from the spring to
23 the summer, one straightly for PR and the other for
24 graphics, and it was a learning process with every
25 intern and their skills grow and we really want to thank

1 Khalil Mohammad for the early adaptation of the 45th
2 logo; and then of course thank Taylor Stone for various
3 PR and marketing support that they lent to help make the
4 event well known and well supported.

5 For NACOLE I do also want to mention a
6 couple of things with respect to some of the advantages
7 of hosting the event. In each host city the board gets
8 to designate an honorarium from NACOLE that they give in
9 lieu of giving money to speakers and the honorarium for
10 Detroit went to the Northeast Guidance Center, 501 C3
11 nonprofit organization, that helped pioneer a mental
12 health service partnership with police in the 1990s.
13 And as you've heard from the different conferences we go
14 to other people talk about CIT, and mental health
15 intervention and we have an organization that truly
16 helped pioneer that. It was an opportunity to recognize
17 that and to solute their aptly named program, Community
18 and Police Partnership Advocacy, called CAPA for short.
19 NACOLE also raised nearly eight thousand dollars for its
20 scholarship fund. For future conference scholarships
21 ships we in Detroit were very proud that we had an
22 applicant who was successful in their application
23 process for 2019. Nora Hudson attended the conference
24 as a scholarship recipient; she's very active with
25 youth; what to do in a traffic stop and other public

1 safety programs, both with the ACLU and with her
2 sorority, Delta Sigma Theta. The BOPC again as host
3 organization also had input into the conference with
4 certain venue selections and certain hospitality
5 offerings, so we were glad to assist NACOLE in making
6 sure that we help them secure Detroit River Cruise
7 because we all know what a beautiful waterfront city we
8 have and sometimes when people think rust belt they
9 don't think how gorgeous Detroit is on the water. We
10 had that breathtaking event at the GM winter garden,
11 that spectacular port Detroit dock ceremony and Cass
12 Tech certainly gave a preview of what is certain to be a
13 great national performance next May when they perform in
14 the Memorial Day parade.

15 Also we know that the conference brought new
16 direct tourism spending to Detroit and that those 488
17 attendees helped top the projected 550 thousand that the
18 convention bureau had expected because people did come
19 early for Mow Town 60 which was also in the hotel and
20 they stayed afterward to take part in the sightseeing
21 that Detroit offered because it was a jam packed
22 conference. We already talked about the Detroit youth
23 opportunities that included journalism majors, criminal
24 justice majors, AmeriCorps volunteers who are pictured
25 here. There's a sensational picture of the AmeriCorps

1 volunteers with the 500 plus conference bags that they
2 helped prepare.

3 And finally, one of the things that we are
4 most proud of was that this platform was available for
5 Detroit. When we hosted our 24th -- our event on
6 Tuesday the 24th because it allowed NACOLE to also
7 participate and many of them did and that was a great
8 platform to conclude the 2019 celebration. I think that
9 Detroit as a city and as a community can be very proud
10 of these events and the results. A thank you goes to
11 everyone who helped along the way and everyone who
12 attended events. I thank your honorable body for its
13 support in working on these projects and especially
14 Police Commissioner Brooks for her focused leadership,
15 since we started working late January and ensured that
16 the board achieved very much in very little time. We
17 are sending our final formal thank yous to the 2019
18 celebration sponsors of both events and especially we
19 want to recognize our marquis sponsors Comerica Bank,
20 the Operating Engineers, Sir Metro and your leadership
21 Madam Vice Chair, Strategic Staffing Solutions, AAA of
22 Michigan, DMC Sinai Grace and the Michigan Department of
23 Civil Rights, along with Wayne County Community College.
24 I in particular want to give a shout out to MDCR and its
25 staff because they helped us with dynamic participation

1 and many local conversations took part as a part of this
2 process of hosting NACOLE and people from across the
3 state are finding each other and there's going to be
4 ongoing dialogue about what can be achieved in Michigan
5 moving forward and we look forward to continuing
6 Detroit's leadership in this arena. And certainly if
7 you have questions.

8 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Thank you. You know
9 I just want to say I was lucky to be able to attend most
10 of the days. And every single day that I was there I
11 spoke with many of the attendees who again are from
12 across the country, Mexico, Puerto Rico, Japan, several
13 countries as well outside of the states and they were
14 just so impressed with Detroit and I heard that over and
15 over and over again how this was not what they expected.
16 They were very pleasantly surprised and very pleased
17 with Detroit and, you know, a lot of that has to do with
18 all of your efforts and I want to thank you on behalf of
19 the board. If anybody else would like to comment about
20 their experience please do so. Commissioner.

21 COMMISSIONER BURCH: I want to commend you
22 two ladies and Mr. Hicks, whomever else had to do with
23 the organizing this whole event. It made us very proud
24 because as I spoke to visitors they were just in awe
25 about the city. They loved the river front. They loved

1 the comradery that people were together. They loved the
2 Cass Tech band. I want to commend you to what you did
3 to put all that together. It had to be a unified loving
4 effort and I'm grateful to be a commissioner, to be a
5 part of it and I just want to thank you ladies and
6 Mr. Hicks and whoever else, all the volunteers and dear
7 Mrs. Brooks who has that connect and we're just proud to
8 be Detroiters. That's what I want to say. I am a
9 native Detroiter.

10 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Commissioner Brooks.

11 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: Well, I'm not a native
12 Detroiter but this is my home. As I constantly say I
13 don't want to hear anyone talk about Detroit and that
14 goes along with the fact that I met several people that
15 were born and raised here, even went to high school here
16 and left who are now saying they would like to come
17 back. One man sent a picture, one of our photographers,
18 was sending pictures to his wife because he wants to
19 bring her to Detroit. And I thank you all for putting
20 NACOLE together. Not only did you bring people from
21 around the country you brought people from Detroit
22 together and that's a good thing. So thank you all and
23 I'm honored to have helped in any way that I could.
24 Everyone knows that I'm always trying to raise money.
25 Some people run from me; they know I'm going to ask for

1 money but it's all for a good cause, so thank you all
2 very much. The staff thank you for your workshop. I
3 learned a lot from our attorney and his workshop. Thank
4 you.

5 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHE: Thank you.
6 Commissioner Davis.

7 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: I'd like to echo that
8 also 'cause I was there from every day from beginning to
9 end. And I talked to people from all over the world and
10 everyone was singing the praises of the program and the
11 city of Detroit and I was welcoming them back; I got
12 plenty of cards and talked to plenty of people.

13 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHE: Thank you,
14 Commissioners. Commissioner.

15 MR. BELL: Yes, Madam Chair. I just want to
16 recognize this board. We made a run for the national
17 board in 2017. We were not successful. But in 2018
18 this board fought long and hard to get me reelected and
19 I appreciate the board and staff who lobbied politically
20 and we was highly visible to get elected to the board.
21 My one year under the belt I served on the board; we
22 lobbied hard to get the conference here and that was the
23 focal point of Commissioner Bell serving on national
24 board to make sure that we have a very -- what do we
25 call it -- hospitality and the business type concept and

1 some of our people in the audience raised the issue
2 about elected and appointed. I want to say to you, our
3 appointed commissioner since 1974 and I have witness
4 this since 2014 on this board, without their support and
5 their resources Commissioner Brooks, Dewaelsche we would
6 not have been able to host this conference, 'cause they
7 brought their resources and contact from their
8 respective professional. And we should really get away
9 from that concept of elected and appointed. It's about
10 serving. And they served this board extremely well with
11 their resources and historically, it was good to see so
12 many former commissioner appointed by different mayors
13 attended. And some of us know the history. Sometimes
14 we forget our history. So I just want to appreciate
15 Chief Craig. Chief Craig spent three days with us at
16 the NACOLE conference; we served on the panel. He was
17 at the opening; he was at the reception. I can't say
18 enough and others from DPD staff and support. And
19 people were impressed by the working relationship that
20 we have with DPD and that should be a natural thing that
21 other cities can emulate in that whole process; so we,
22 Cass Tech, Straight Ahead, hospitality, Captain Hope; it
23 was over the top. And it exceeded all our expectations.
24 We had 100 people attended the NACOLE conference for the
25 first time and that was a plus, plus 'cause oversight

1 has grown from the 25 years to about 140 different
2 organizations across this country. Even with what's
3 happening in the justice department in this country
4 there's a climbing not just in law enforcement but
5 correction. So there's a whole new birth for us. So
6 NACOLE is not going away and the Board of Police
7 Commissioners is not going away. I would hope that we
8 focusing on the mission and not look at individual
9 politics. That should be the goal.

10 Our goal, as Chief Craig indicated at the
11 NACOLE conference, that whole process all the chiefs and
12 all the mayors, he spoke last night about a key issue
13 that we've been dealing with. I'm not going to get into
14 that, but 75, 100 people there and they was all positive
15 in reference to what's happening with DPD and he gave
16 credit to the board. I think that we need to hear more
17 from the community. We need to encourage that. If
18 we're doing something right, let the know. If we're
19 doing something wrong, we hear that; we're going to hear
20 that. If DPD doing something good, you need to say
21 that; you need to say it loud and clear. I am proud to
22 say I'm a member of DPD. I'm a member of this board but
23 I'm here for accountability and civilian oversight and
24 that's why I'm here. I have no other agenda. If you do
25 the right thing, you got Willie Bell's support and I

1 think we have made tough decisions and been very
2 abrasive sometimes. I think there's a way to get your
3 message across without being abusive and we try and
4 convey that message to our young people. We know
5 there's domestic violence and conflict and all that, if
6 we as adult act in certain manner, then we lose the
7 thrust of what we trying to say and communicate. They
8 judge us by how we act not by what we say. In the
9 legacy of Dr. King it's to be about the legacy of
10 judging ones by their character and by their merit. We
11 had a congressman just made a statement that we should
12 hire people black like us because they can make a
13 difference that people can't judge us if they're not
14 white. That is a statement that's totally insensitive
15 to how far we have come in America and that congressman
16 I think we need to address that and say that is not
17 proper. We have all walks of life, all color; that was
18 the dream of Dr. King; that was the dream of Coleman A.
19 Young, the mayor, and all those commissioners to bring
20 us together to serve the public. And we should be on
21 that type of banter. And thank you, Madam Chair.

22 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHÉ: Thank you,
23 Commissioner. Anybody else?

24 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Yes, please.

25 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHÉ: Commissioner Holt.

1 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Chair, Vice Chair. Yes,
2 I too many of the sessions that I could capture in the
3 four days. It was back to back and some sessions of
4 course were going on at the same time. One of the
5 sessions that I was able to attend and stayed during the
6 entire presentation had to do with precision policing
7 that's noted to have been a strategy, initially
8 initiated in New York City; and based on the stats, the
9 data stats that came from that after that concept had
10 been introduced crime rates did go on -- did go down.
11 And one of the adjectives that the presenter offered to
12 explain why the stats went down was the focus was
13 neighborhood policing. And he repeated the comment over
14 and over and over, how you cannot under estimate the
15 affect of neighborhood policing. We also had the
16 opportunity to listen to a Dr. Curtis. Now Dr. Curtis
17 was really trying to show how poverty and other elements
18 of urban settings have not diminished that much since I
19 think the Keanen Report came out, but he was also able
20 to offer several resources which was -- which were
21 powerful in terms of supplementing his presentation and
22 I didn't bring those resources with me. One had to do
23 with in Minnesota; they have created a returning citizen
24 system to lead to success and I will bring that
25 resource. I think we were supposed to have gotten the

1 resource via e-mail, those folks to attend at the
2 conference, so I didn't get it so it got off my mind
3 but, yeah, Dr. Curtis they had mentioned about the
4 Minnesota project that's supposed to add to the quality
5 of life of returning citizens.

6 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Thank you,
7 Commissioner. Commissioner Brooks --

8 MS. BLOSSOM: Through the chair, we will
9 follow-up if we may, on your behalf and secure those
10 resource lists for you.

11 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Thank you.

12 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: I just want to mention
13 the fundraiser that was given for the scholarship fund.
14 I think we forgot that; that was a wonderful, wonderful
15 boat ride that raised quite a bit of money. It was
16 called the Mow Town boat ride but I just want to let you
17 know that was a very good idea to decide to have that to
18 raise money.

19 MS. BLOSSOM: Thank you and through the
20 chair we're very grateful to Miller Linden who was a
21 long time mow town person and who is featured in the
22 current mow town documentary to join us on the boat ride
23 that night. Unfortunately, we didn't get the chance to
24 enjoy the boat ride but we hear it was fun.

25 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Thank you. Are

1 there any other questions or comments? If not, thank
2 you again for this detailed report and for all of your
3 work to the staff. Thank you. At this time do we have
4 any standing committee reports or any committee reports?
5 If not, then we have a report from the board secretary.

6 MR. HICKS: Thank you, Madam Chair. I want
7 to draw your attention to two items that are listed on
8 the agenda. The first one was the chief transmitted a
9 directive 301.3 which is telephone crime reporting and
10 nonemergency calls for service. That directive is
11 currently being under review and our initial reaction to
12 directive is that there is -- that there are no
13 substantive changes made in the directive, so what we're
14 attempting to do probably within the next meeting or so
15 is to bring that directive directly to the board for
16 your examination and authorization as opposed to going
17 through the extended review process that we normally
18 take a directive to in the -- with the policy division.
19 So Melanie White who has done the review of that assures
20 me that there was no substantive changes in that
21 particular directive. I think there may be a second one
22 that may fall into that category, so that will be coming
23 to you in the next couple of weeks.

24 I also want to indicate to you that we did
25 transmit I think Monday or Tuesday a report to the board

1 and it had to do with the current grievance that is
2 currently being, there's a settlement this is for DPO
3 grievance 19-044. This involves the promotions of some
4 I think 4 lieutenants and 15 sergeants. That report has
5 been distributed to you. In reviewing the report with a
6 couple of the board members they've asked for some
7 additional information wherein some of that information
8 involves reaching out to the chief and to the
9 Lieutenants and Sergeants Association and we will get
10 that done and try and schedule a discussion within the
11 next couple of weeks, so on that particular settlement.
12 With those two particular items unless there's a
13 question that you have, that would conclude my report.

14 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Thank you. Are
15 there any questions?

16 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Yeah, Madam Chair.

17 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Yes.

18 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Just one question about
19 the grievance. This is about the third time I've seen
20 information that's supposed to have went to the board of
21 e-mails information come down and it's not being
22 transmitted to the board. I mean, it's not coming to
23 me; I don't know who else it's coming to but I would
24 like to receive a copy of that grievance report.

25 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Secretary?

1 MR. HICKS: Yes. As far as we know and in
2 the way in which our computers are set we transmit the
3 information; we're able to determine that the
4 information actually reached the mailboxes and we can
5 also set the computers indicating who may have opened
6 those and to my knowledge just looking at it -- well, I
7 can go back and look. As far as we know there is no
8 problems in the current e-mail systems and the
9 distribution of information. I will check on
10 Commissioner Brown's to make sure since he mentioned it.
11 But to our knowledge everyone had received that. And of
12 course paper copies are available for everyone on that
13 event that we can supply.

14 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Commissioner Bell?

15 MR. BELL: Madam Chair, I would encourage
16 the staff anything of that significance that we make
17 sure we get a hard copy of it and I think that
18 Commissioner Brown's correct; we may make sure that
19 commissioner get a hard copy of it, not just depend on
20 e-mail. Anything that's major of that nature we should
21 have a hard copy of that. I think that would be more
22 appropriate in terms of how we approach that.

23 MR. HICKS: Yeah, Commissioner, I in fact
24 while we are in public comments I'll go up and get
25 copies of that. I do have a couple copies sitting on my

1 desk; I'll reproduce them and can distribute them here
2 to make sure that everyone as you indicated has a hard
3 copy of it.

4 MR. BELL: Thank you.

5 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHE: Any other questions
6 or comments? Hearing none is there are any old business
7 come before this body?

8 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: Not this week. I was
9 going to but yesterday there was a public foundation
10 board, which I sit on; there was a board meeting and a
11 retreat and I will respond to that at our next meeting.
12 I'll give a presentation on that.

13 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHE: Thank you. Any new
14 business to come before this body?

15 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Madam chairperson?

16 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHE: Okay. Commissioner
17 Holley and then Commissioner Brown and then
18 Commissioner...

19 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: I don't know how the
20 to bring this but I'd really like to see if the
21 chairperson or the committee, the executive committee,
22 I'm really concerned about when we making decisions
23 about officers and I'm thinking that when I make a
24 decision about an officer that it's going to be done
25 expeditiously. I think it's so unfair to me as a board

1 person that when officers are disciplined or we take
2 action on them it takes a whole year like this is, you
3 know, and I feel like it's a disservice to me in terms
4 of how these things are carried out. Either way it goes
5 and I just feel like at some point the chief and the
6 executive board should have a conversation with the
7 prosecutor or whatever in terms of really extending
8 these punishments or discipline and it goes on and on
9 and on. And I'm thinking my decision's based on the
10 fact that the next month something's going to happen or
11 two months something's going to happen. And here -- and
12 so you understand what I'm saying?

13 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Yes.

14 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: I'm just saying to you
15 I just feel like I'm really -- because I don't want to
16 hurt people, you know, I want to make sure that the
17 decisions that I make are just, so I just feel like I'm
18 up against, I don't know if the union or if it's a
19 prosecutor or it's just the police protocol. I don't
20 know. But I do feel like we need to address this.

21 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Deputy chief
22 something like a status report on some major action that
23 we may have taken related to officer discipline?

24 DEPUTY CHIEF WILSON: Through the chair,
25 I'll reach out to Grant Ha and make that recommendation

1 'cause I agree.

2 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Madam Chairperson, I
3 know that speech is not -- I'm sometimes insecure with
4 my speech from my stroke but that's not what I'm talking
5 about. I really am not talking about just giving me a
6 report.

7 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Okay.

8 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: I really want to know
9 -- I mean, like it ought to be a timeline on some of
10 these things that we make a decision on because my
11 decisions are based upon a month; next month there's
12 supposed to be a court date. Then the court date's put
13 off. And I know some things you can't do nothing -- I
14 know that. But I do feel like then I would have a right
15 to go back and revisit it.

16 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: So deputy chief.

17 DEPUTY CHIEF WILSON: Yeah, I understand
18 what the commissioner is saying 'cause there's times
19 when say we might send a criminal warrant over to the
20 prosecutor's office and it might sit; it might sit for
21 months, six months, eight, nine months and until the
22 that time we can't render any type of decision and then
23 we'll finally get a ruling or charges or some kind of
24 adjudication from the court, then we come in front of
25 the board. And like you said it's a year has transpired

1 I understand what you're saying but some things it's on
2 a case by case basis but the chief has made a commitment
3 if it's anything internally anything that goes past a
4 year, we won't punish the officer. So I know internal
5 affairs now has a strict timeline; they try to stay
6 within 90 days of anything that's internal, but once it
7 leaves our office, we're kind of handicapped and we have
8 to wait on the prosecutors.

9 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Well, I guess I just
10 heard something that I don't understand. Anything that
11 goes beyond one year, you don't punish the officer?
12 What's the rationale for that?

13 DEPUTY CHIEF WILSON: So we don't have
14 anything that go past a year, so we don't -- we don't
15 want anything to go past a year, so that's the
16 rationale.

17 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Okay. Any other
18 questions then? Thank you, Reverend Holley.

19 COMMISSIONER BURCH: We still on old
20 business or new, which one?

21 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: We're under new
22 business.

23 COMMISSIONER BURCH: It's my turn or not?

24 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: I think I said
25 Commissioner Brown and then Commission Burch.

1 COMMISSIONER BROWN: Madam Chair, just had
2 two questions. Commissioner Burton and myself were
3 talking and we did observe that the meeting talking with
4 one of the constituents, the citizens, the meeting from
5 September the 5th I believe is not posted on the website
6 and has not been there for the last two, three weeks and
7 I went on there to view it myself and we did not see it.
8 We could not find it in the archives. I would like to
9 have a copy of that. And also e-mail that was sent out
10 today from corporate council via board attorney I was
11 under the impression they were coming to speak to that
12 issue today; is that true, or is it going to be next
13 week?

14 MR. WYRICK: They're not coming today.
15 Jermaine Wyrick, board attorney. And I actually sent an
16 e-mail yesterday reflecting that he wouldn't be coming
17 today.

18 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Okay. And with
19 regard to the meeting there's also this very last
20 meeting that we had was not posted as of this morning I
21 noticed on the archived website. Any other questions or
22 comments under new business? Commissioner -- oh I'm
23 sorry, Commissioner Burch and then Commissioner Bell.
24 Go ahead.

25 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Thank you. That's

1 okay. I just wanted to comment and congratulate Detroit
2 crime stoppers. I attended their event, which is this
3 past week and was very well attended at the Henry Ford
4 museum so everybody knows how important they are to our
5 police department of catching the criminals. So I was
6 very honored to be there to represent the commissioners
7 and some of our Detroit police that weren't there but
8 they mentioned the help that they give. So I just want
9 everybody to know support crime stoppers of Michigan.

10 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Thank you,
11 Commissioner. Commissioner.

12 MR. BELL: Yes, Madam Chair. I sort of
13 broached this subject with the chair and the vice chair
14 this week and I think it's an issue we all concerned
15 about is the lengthy meetings. I reviewed the mayor's
16 meeting is an hour and a half give or take. The council
17 meeting is hour and a half. The board is, you know, a
18 couple hours. And it been raised in some instance we
19 been here three, four hours and I don't think it's --
20 the commissioners -- this is the volunteer board. I
21 mentioned the other two they get well paid to go through
22 the whole process, so I want the board -- and the board
23 has raised the issue too. Some people end up leaving
24 our meetings because especially our community meeting
25 'cause they so long. So I want to entertain that put it

1 on the board mind and I would come back to propose that
2 our meeting an hour and a half to two hour maximum. How
3 we can streamline our meeting and format because I think
4 we just cannot continue to have these long drawn out
5 meeting process and when we have other established
6 organizations, and by this charter, they have community
7 meetings we have more community meetings and more
8 meetings than any other official in Michigan and any
9 other city official. So we need to look at how we want
10 to approach going into the next couple months on a trial
11 error, whatever that is, and how we can streamline hour
12 and a half or maximum two hour meeting. I think that
13 would be more appropriate to the commission and to the
14 public and to DPD and all concerned parties so we just
15 need to move in that direction. I just want to share
16 that with the full board.

17 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHKE: Thank you. Any
18 other comments or questions? Hearing none,
19 announcements. Next on the agenda the next meeting will
20 be Thursday October 10th at 6:30. It will be at the 7th
21 precinct, St. John's Presbyterian Church 1961 East
22 Lafayette in Detroit. And then the next community
23 meeting -- actually that's the community meeting. And
24 then the next community meeting after that is Thursday
25 November 14th at 6:30, 6th precinct Second Grace United

1 Methodist Church, 18700 Joy Road in Detroit. And now
2 it's time for oral comments, public comments. And we
3 will adhere to the two minute limit so Mr. Brown.

4 MR. BROWN: Madam Chair, I currently have
5 eight speakers, and I'll call out eight at one time.
6 Mr. Eric Blount. Mrs. Faith. Ms. Deborah Ruffin (sic).
7 Ms. Valorie Glenn. Ms. Brenda Hill. Ms. Joann Warwick.
8 Ms. Michelle George. And your last speaker will be
9 Mr. Reginald Crawford.

10 MR. BLOUNT: Good afternoon board for the
11 record my name's Eric Blount, a lifelong Detroitter and I
12 self-funded my own attendance at NACOLE because I wanted
13 to understand this industry a lot better than I do. My
14 attendance there just highlighted the corruption that's
15 in this space. I'll give you just two examples. The
16 reporters continuously and conveniently leave out the
17 fact that Commissioner Griffie is an appointee. It
18 leads people to a false narrative on their vote for
19 facial recognition. Yes, the total vote was 8 to 3 but
20 for elected officials it was tied 3 to 3. All appointed
21 officials voted for facial recognition. The fix is on.

22 This other thing commissioner Brown thank
23 you, I've been looking almost daily for the September
24 5th video of this meeting. It is nowhere to be found.
25 And that is just not a coincidence and why that's

1 important is because a white male from the 13th
2 congressional Michigan Republican party detailed the
3 corruption and bribery that has occurred in the facial
4 recognition industry. We want to see that and hopefully
5 you all have viewed it already. Commissioner Holley,
6 Corporal Jones continues to be postponed and delayed and
7 postponed and delayed and again, I'll say I think the
8 fix is on again for him to be retired without any real
9 punishment. And lastly, it just seems like there's
10 another need at least another 13 year consent decree.
11 Thank you.

12 MR. BROWN: Mrs. Faith.

13 MRS. FAITH: Welcome to this honorable
14 board. For the record my name is Mrs. Faith. And I
15 want to make a comment to Commissioner Holley. You
16 continue to be very comical, which makes it
17 light-hearted. It just smooths out everything. That's
18 a plus to board. I appreciate you so much Commissioner
19 Holley, as well as all of the commissioners. I truly do
20 all the time. And was just listening to the aftermath
21 of the NACOLE conference and myself I say, I was very
22 impressed with everything and how it went and then also
23 the continued balance in the meetings all of the time
24 very sensitive matters come up and it could be because
25 all are human beings, a lot of things but every time I

1 come and it's been about five years, it's always
2 flat-lined. There's never anything that's bristled up
3 that cannot be smoothed out and you all are conducting
4 yourselves very professionally and your also conduct
5 yourself with me very professionally. There is nothing
6 any time not even with the deputy police here Wilson
7 when I'm with the officers and speaking with anyone here
8 it's always professional every time. I'm very impressed
9 by everyone. And it's your training; it's the protocol.
10 It's policies and procedures. It's your demeanor
11 towards me and it's always the same. Everyone -- I
12 don't deify nobody; I don't believe in that. I know you
13 all have faults and failures you're all human. I have
14 faults and failures, believe it or not. But because I'm
15 human. And here comes Commissioner Bell, the one on the
16 top of the list; I call him dad. He keeps everybody
17 under order. Special commendation for you. And I just
18 thank you all very much for teaching me; when you're not
19 speaking, you're teaching and instructing me. When
20 you're talking, you're teaching and instructing. When
21 I'm not here, you're yet teaching and instructing. It
22 comes back of what happened in the meetings and when I
23 see you outside of the meetings the same thing. I'm
24 impressed --

25 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHE: Thank you for your

1 comments.

2 MRS. FAITH: Thank you for letting me speak.

3 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Thank you.

4 MR. BROWN: Ms. Ruffin.

5 MS. RUFFIN: Hello to everyone, the board of
6 commissioner and I give honor to finally being able to
7 get or even be heard or been spoken. I'm a citizen of
8 the city of Detroit and I've been victim of identity
9 theft and fraud involving a property that I was living
10 at. I went to the police station and made a report to a
11 Jeffrey Roberts several times. I've also spoke with
12 Ms. Rivera who says that she's the senior department of
13 this case. Ms. Rivera, no documents from me, no
14 anything, no nothing from me involving this case. I
15 have all proof paperwork and everything to show that I
16 was put on a property that I was renting and somehow
17 these people put me as owner. These people are in the
18 city of Detroit, a city management group RE/MAX,
19 Blenheim King (sic), Michelle Patrinsky (sic) and
20 Richard Confetti. I've also got this letter from
21 detective Roberts where he say he saw no merits and he
22 also told Ms. Rivera that he had not seen me since 2017.
23 That is not true. This letter also is dated June the
24 19th, June the 19th, 2019 as I went in again to show
25 proof. I've contacted Chief Craig's office, which Chief

1 Craig had to contact the 9th precinct to get in touch
2 with their lieutenant to find out that every information
3 or whatever but once he was found to be caught up in his
4 lies, he was made by one of the detective and by the --
5 to write this letter stating that he has seen me and
6 that he had told me to come back in if there was any
7 other information or evidence that I found involving
8 this case and this was just 2019. I've been seeking
9 help. I've gone to the police over and over, made
10 constants repeat of reports. I've contacted the Chief
11 Craig's office again yesterday and I was told to come
12 here today. That's why I'm here to see if I can seek
13 help and justice and let them know that there are people
14 on your commissioner board that helps these police in
15 their lies. Ms. Rivera stated to me that she was done
16 with my case and sent it back. No nothing from me. No
17 help. No justice.

18 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHKE: Thank you, ma'am.
19 D.C.?

20 DEPUTY CHIEF WILSON: Through the chair if
21 you can talk to Commander Hayes, then I'll come and talk
22 to you. I'm in charge of the detective bureau so you
23 can talk to him and at the conclusion I'll talk to you
24 as well.

25 MS. RUFFIN: Okay, thank you.

1 MR. BROWN: Ms. Glenn.

2 MS. GLENN: Good afternoon, commissioners.

3 My name is Valerie Glenn and I wanted to know if it
4 would be possible for the public to get a copy of the
5 bylaws that we discussed at the beginning of the
6 meeting. I don't know if that's possible. If it's on
7 the website or what but I'm on the police part of the
8 charter that has citizen input and we're trying to go
9 over our recommendations to the charter commissioners
10 and that would be very helpful, if I could -- if it's
11 possible.

12 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHE: Mr. Sectary, we can
13 answer that.

14 MR. HICKS: Yes, we'll make sure you get
15 that. I have an e-mail for you and I'll send you copy.

16 MS. GLENN: You have my e-mail? Thank you.
17 I wanted to also indicate and this is the question to
18 you Mr. Hicks as well as a secretary are you the one
19 that basically provide us with the minutes; who prepares
20 the minute?

21 MR. HICKS: I prepare those.

22 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHE: Ma'am, please direct
23 your questions to me.

24 MS. GLENN: Oh I'm sorry. Through the chair
25 I'm so sorry.

1 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHÉ: No problem.

2 MS. GLENN: Who prepares the minutes?

3 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHÉ: We prepare the
4 minutes, the staff and we have a staff and Mr. Hicks.

5 MR. HICKS: Yes.

6 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHÉ: Is in charge of
7 that.

8 MR. HICKS: Through the chair I prepare the
9 minutes.

10 MS. GLENN: Okay in particular I just want
11 to point out I was present at the Kemeny Rec Center
12 meeting and I thought there was several parts of the
13 minutes I didn't get to read until I got to the meeting
14 this afternoon that was written a little bit biased.
15 The way that they depicted the way that Commissioner
16 Willie Burton operated, he was made to look disruptive
17 and dysfunctional and I'm insulted now. Not only is he
18 my commissioner but I was at the meeting; I think he
19 gave -- provided some support, a lot of support to the
20 public in particular. He made sure that we received our
21 full two minutes and that we were able to speak and
22 address our concerns. It just was overlooked all
23 together and there was no mention of he was actually
24 attacked at that meeting by Mrs. Bernice Smith with her
25 cane. And it was videotaped. That was completely out

1 of the minutes. Thank you.

2 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Thank you.

3 MR. BROWN: Ms. Hill.

4 MS. HILL: Yes, my name is Brenda Hill and
5 to give you a suggestion it's these reports that you put
6 on the schedule for two minutes and they go on for 45
7 minutes. We're at an hour and a half and we're just
8 getting to public comments. And that's the problem.
9 What if 100 people show up, then we're going to be here
10 another couple of hours.

11 I want to start with the mission statement
12 of the board of police commissioners to increase public
13 confidence and to trust in the Detroit Police Department
14 by providing competent, objective and effective civilian
15 oversight. This board has failed. Hundreds of citizens
16 have come before you to express their disapproval of
17 facial recognition technology. More than 30 groups have
18 come before you expressing their disapproval of facial
19 recognition technology. The ACLU has come before you
20 expressing their disapproval of facial recognition
21 technology. You have no credible studies or reports
22 that agree with you in the use of facial recognition
23 technology. Yet the majority of you have ignored the
24 voice and the will of the people. Democrats and
25 Republicans alike in the state House and Senate are

1 drafting bills against facial recognition technology.
2 City council person Mayor Sheffield is drafting policy
3 against facial recognition technology. Yet the majority
4 of you have ignored the voice and the will of the
5 people. You have put an irrevocable stain on your
6 records. Shame. You continue to violate the open
7 meetings act by having these meetings in this building.
8 Thank you.

9 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Thank you. Any
10 other?

11 MR. BROWN: Ms. Warwick.

12 MS. WARWICK: Yes, good afternoon. I will
13 express my concern for a second time about the way these
14 report -- the minutes are being written. Sometimes we
15 have verbatim public comments and sometimes it's a
16 summary. Why? That's suspicious. We have a court
17 reporter here. Why don't you just put everything in the
18 report, so maybe that can be addressed later why there
19 is that change. I too witnessed Bernice Smith swing her
20 cane at Willie Burton and Deputy Chief Bettison had to
21 jump out of the way. But nobody arrested her for
22 disorderly conduct. And, you know, because you did --
23 because the police here were using facial recognition
24 technology two years without telling people and because
25 you voted for it against the overwhelming, you know,

1 option of the people. I find holding the NACOLE
2 conference here really kind of a national disgrace.
3 Just as having Officer Darryl Cross throw me down at the
4 Kmack building and his camera malfunctioned on the last
5 day of the NAACP conference. That was a national
6 disgrace.

7 Now I'm happy to hear that there's -- you're
8 working on something about police officers lying. But
9 what about when a police officer's camera malfunctions,
10 so that the DA can put on a silent movie prosecution and
11 then the police officers contest the lie. So I'd like
12 to report the assault and battery on me by Officer
13 Darryl Cross. I would like to report Tyrone Hunter for
14 writing a false police report. And I would like to
15 report Detroit law department Sidney Rogers for
16 obstruction of justice because she's not giving me all
17 the videos in my case. They're cutting out a 7 to 8
18 minute clip when the police officer was throwing me
19 down. I have e-mail after e-mail asking her for that.
20 The -- now I do agree it would be idea to be good
21 doctors of democracy and I would hope the police can be
22 that too but they're not -- they need to get some
23 training on PTSD. And not just, you know, if you kick
24 the dog 25 times and it growls at you, then do you go
25 criminalize the dog? Or was it the person who kicked

1 the dog's fault? So.

2 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Okay, your time's
3 up. Thank you so much for your comments.

4 MS. WARWICK: One last important thing you
5 said that --

6 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Very quickly.

7 MS. WARWICK: Yeah. Now you said -- now
8 when you asked for the police reports that they do here
9 'cause what we get says basically nothing, right, so
10 they said you can FOIA the reports. I did. They asked
11 for \$118 so that's not right. I should be able to get
12 them for free.

13 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Thank you. Next
14 speaker.

15 MR. BROWN: Ms. George.

16 MS. GEORGE: Good evening to the chair and
17 deputy chief and board of commissioners. I just want to
18 make a comment. I'm sorry I missed that conference. At
19 the time National Action Network that I'm a member of
20 and River Sharp is our national president and Reverend
21 Charles Williams is our Michigan chapter, and
22 Commissioner Davis is our Detroit president. That we
23 had a panel that talked about a lot of things as well
24 and facial recognition came up. We had a panel with the
25 Cleveland Police Department and with commissioners as

1 well. The issue with facial recognition and it maybe
2 something that the commissioners do not realize and I
3 mentioned this to the mayor at his mayor meeting,
4 Detroit is under in a partai (sic) system right now.
5 Where we are it's, you know, and you know partai in
6 terms of South Africa because we're dealing with
7 literacy is not right in Detroit. We'll be in
8 Cincinnati for that court case. We have a financial
9 review commission that's over our city and over our
10 school system, so when you add on facial recognition now
11 that's another civil rights issue that we're going to
12 have to fight and just like the Cleveland Police
13 Department stated while we were in Beechwood, they don't
14 have facial recognition. We're not saying that
15 technology is not going to come but we're dealing with a
16 city that's 85 percent black. A white mayor, nothing
17 against Mayor Duggan, and I hope if you're watching your
18 Channel 10 you have to vote. You have to vote in 2021.
19 We are trying to get police officers more money but you
20 put a software in place where police is not getting
21 enough money. The crime, and I know you know this,
22 Deputy Chief, with who you supervise police officers are
23 not getting enough money. So I reached out to Craig
24 Miller he called me of the union to get police officers
25 more money but the reason you're getting this push back,

1 and I'm glad Professor Hammer, who I'm in associate
2 justice group with with Judge Damon Keith that you have
3 to realize Detroit is under, still under emergency
4 management. So that's why you're getting your push
5 back. I wish I was at that panel about multiple
6 volatile voices and environments, so it's just another
7 issue that we have to tackle. Thank you very much.

8 VICE CHAIR DEWAELESCHE: Thank you.

9 MR. BROWN: Mr. Crawford.

10 MR. CRAWFORD: Good evening Madam Chair,
11 Commissioner. My name's Reginald Crawford, resident of
12 city of Detroit, retired Detroit police officer, former
13 police commissioner. And I still stand before you I'm
14 opposed to facial recognition and I call for its ban.
15 That's not why I'm here, though, to speak on that
16 particular topic. And I'll start with something that
17 was stated earlier in reference to untruthfulness.
18 Untruthfulness. When you tell the truth all the time
19 you don't have to worry about covering up for lies.
20 Repeat that. When you tell the truth all of the time
21 you don't have to worry about covering up the lies. The
22 last meeting I attended a week before last there was
23 something that occurred that was very disturbing to me
24 that occurred after you came out of closed session. And
25 that closed session was in reference to the suspension

1 with out pay for Sergeant Martin. And the comments that
2 were made prior to that vote, one made by Commissioner
3 Brown, the other one made by Commissioner Griffie. I
4 understand -- I do understand Commissioner Griffie's
5 response and she responded because of something
6 Commissioner Brown said. What she brought out at closed
7 session was a discussion at the table as to whether or
8 not what you viewed in the video, and Commissioner Brown
9 stated, that the three males provoked that incident.
10 That is not true. I understand and I read the article
11 about five months ago in the Detroit news that was a
12 narrative that was created by the Detroit Police
13 Department in conjunction with the propaganda arm of the
14 Detroit Police Department, the Detroit news. And how
15 this works is police chiefs often times, sometimes
16 police unions will frame a narrative that's just not
17 true. And that article stated that these two sergeants
18 Rule and Martin being overcharged. And I talked to my
19 source at Wayne County prosecutor's office, who's very
20 credible and very respectful person, and has the utmost
21 integrity, which was stated to me there were four
22 videos. I mean, you looked at it.

23 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCH: Direct your comments
24 to me, please.

25 MR. CRAWFORD: There were four videos. I'm

1 looking at everyone. There were four videos and of
2 course the Detroit police body cam video, I was offered
3 opportunity to come view those videos, I said, no, I'll
4 just wait for the trial. He said our court watch the
5 trial. Those videos everyone will be able to see.
6 There were four videos in that Greek Town incident. The
7 Detroit police officer video was either corrupted, it
8 wasn't all there, edited, stolen or lost. This issue
9 came up before and we talked about this on the body cam
10 policy when I sat on the board as the ability of
11 officers being able to cut body cams off and on. Now --

12 VICE CHAIR DEWAELSCHE: We need to wrap it
13 up; your two minutes are up.

14 MR. CRAWFORD: I understand but I'm going to
15 continue. Feel free to arrest me if you like. The four
16 videos: One outside, one inside the hotel, one the
17 corrupted video on the officer's body cam and cell phone
18 video. Now this particular incident those three young
19 men were charged. Charges were dropped. Let me repeat
20 it. Charged were dropped in terms of charges for that
21 particular incident. Ultimately, the two sergeants were
22 charged. So again, I'm here to caution everyone
23 commissioners, chief -- unfortunately he's not here --
24 any time you do this, try to create some narrative
25 that's a false narrative, I'll be here.

1 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Thank you. Thank
2 you, Commissioner.

3 MR. BROWN: Madam Chair, that was your last
4 speaker.

5 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Thank you. Thank
6 you everybody for coming for today's meeting.
7 Appreciate --

8 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Madam Chair, I move
9 that we adjourn.

10 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Support.

11 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: It's been moved and
12 seconded. All those in favor indicate by saying aye.

13 ALL: Aye.

14 VICE CHAIR DEWAEELSCHE: Thank you everyone.
15 (Meeting concluded at 4:48 p.m.)
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

1 STATE OF MICHIGAN)

2)

3 COUNTY OF WASHTENAW)

4

5 CERTIFICATE OF NOTARY PUBLIC AND COURT REPORTER

6 I, Caitlyn Hartley, do hereby certify that the
7 foregoing meeting was duly recorded by me
8 stenographically and by me later reduced to typewritten
9 form by means of computer-aided transcription; and I
10 certify that this is a true and correct transcript of my
11 stenographic notes so taken.

12 I further certify that I am neither of counsel to
13 either party nor interested in the event of this cause.

14

15

16



17

Caitlyn Hartley, RPR, CSR-8887

18

Notary Public,

19

Washtenaw County, Michigan

20

My Commission expires: August 15, 2021

21

22

23

24

25

\$

\$118 75:11

0

0.1 26:10

1

1 4:19 26:10,13
1-0123 18:5
10 31:16 76:18
100 37:13 50:24 51:14 72:9
10th 42:9 64:20
11 19:23
11th 19:24 42:8,9
12th 22:5
13 39:3 66:10
13th 22:6 66:1
140 51:1
14th 64:25
15 56:4
16 33:22,25 34:17
16th 20:1
18 22:13
18700 65:1
19 22:13
19-044 56:3
1960s 41:23
1961 64:21
1967 42:10
1969 22:1,2
1970 22:18
1971 22:18
1974 15:5 41:9 42:6,11,15

50:3
1975 32:13
1990s 44:12
1994 17:19
1998 19:21
19th 5:16 17:19 68:24
1st 19:21 22:9

2

2.4 26:17
2.8 26:15
2000 17:24
2013 25:3
2014 50:4
2017 49:17 68:22
2018 22:13 27:3 49:17
2019 4:2 5:16 18:4 20:1 44:23
46:8,17 68:24 69:8
2021 76:18
21 20:18
22nd 36:13
23 26:14
23rd 39:3
24th 42:17 46:5,6
25 18:4,14 19:2 36:16 40:9,25
51:1 74:24
25th 37:9 40:3,18,23
26th 36:14
27th 17:24
29th 18:4
2nd 22:1

3

3 4:2,24 8:10 26:19 65:19,20
3.2 26:13,16

3.6 26:12
30 31:16 72:17
301.3 55:9
30th 25:3 26:9
37 37:16
3:00 4:3
3rd 19:25

4

4 4:20 56:4
43 24:15
4440 20:2
45 41:25 72:6
45th 9:5,6 10:6 41:8 42:3 43:6,
7 44:1
488 45:16
4:48 80:15

5

50 9:25 23:12,22 24:6
500 9:3 46:1
501 44:10
550 45:17
5th 62:5 65:24

6

60 45:19
61 42:18
67 42:18
6:30 8:12 64:20,25
6th 19:24 64:25

7

7 5:1 8:12 74:17

7.5 26:16

70s 41:23

74 32:1

75 51:14

7th 64:20

8

8 8:13 34:18 65:19 74:17

85 76:16

9

90 61:6

9th 17:21,22 18:1 69:1

A

A.C. 34:25

AAA 46:21

ability 79:10

aboard 41:15

abrasive 52:2

Absolutely 29:19

Abstentions 17:5

abusive 52:3

academy 17:20 19:22 22:2

accept 11:6

accepted 37:18

access 39:25

accident 26:2,7,8 35:17

accidents 35:17

accomplish 41:20

accomplishments 9:12

account 34:16

accountability 38:24 51:23

accountant 6:19

accounts 9:2

achieved 46:16 47:4

achieving 38:20

acknowledging 9:19

ACLU 45:1 72:19

acronym 32:18

act 52:6,8 73:7

action 59:2,22 75:19

active 44:24

activists 40:18

actual 39:21

adapt 18:19

adaptation 44:1

adapting 14:19

add 35:6 54:4 76:10

addition 6:12 43:22

additional 8:6 56:7

Additionally 9:5 40:2

address 52:16 59:20 71:22

addressed 73:18

adhere 65:3

adjectives 53:11

adjourn 80:9

adjourned 28:20 33:5

adjudication 27:20 28:1 30:12
31:16 60:24

administration 31:14 43:13

adult 52:6

advantages 44:6

Advocacy 44:18

advocates 40:17

affairs 29:13,14 61:5

affect 53:15

Africa 76:6

aftermath 66:20

afternoon 4:5,18,23,25 5:2
6:20,22,24 7:7 36:5,7 65:10
70:2 71:14 73:12

afterward 45:20

agencies 37:14 40:12

agency 8:20

agenda 5:7 9:18 51:24 55:8
64:19

Aggravated 26:11

agree 60:1 72:22 74:20

agreement 31:3

ahead 7:19 29:5 31:17 40:21
50:22 62:24

align 37:16

aligned 39:17

alignment 12:15

alike 72:25

All-star 22:24

allotted 10:24

allowed 46:6

America 52:15

Americorps 45:24,25

amicable 14:13

amount 33:19

analysis 33:6

Anderson 6:17

Annie 5:2

anniversary 9:6,16 10:6 37:9
41:9 42:3 43:6,8

announcements 64:19

annual 37:2,4,11 40:19

app 39:24

applicant 44:22

application 44:22

appointed 17:18 21:25 50:2,3,

9,12 65:20
appointee 5:3 43:9 65:17
appreciation 23:3,14 43:1
approach 57:22 64:10
approval 5:7,15
approve 16:19 19:9
approved 12:3 17:6
aptitude 22:12
aptly 44:17
arbitration 28:23
arbitrator 28:8,11
archived 62:21
archives 62:8
area 42:10
arena 47:6
argued 31:20
arm 78:13
arranged 37:8
arrest 79:15
arrested 73:21
article 8:12 78:10,17
assault 74:12
assaults 26:11,12
assigned 19:20
assignment 22:12
assist 45:5
Assistant 35:1
associate 77:1
association 8:25 28:17 36:10 56:9
assures 55:19
at-large 4:22 5:3
attacked 71:24
attempting 55:14

attend 4:10 37:10 47:9 53:5 54:1
attendance 42:22 65:12,14
attendant 18:7
attended 9:3,7 36:19 42:24 44:23 46:12 50:13,24 63:2,3 77:22
attendees 9:2 37:7 40:25 45:17 47:11
attendees' 36:20 38:13
attending 6:25
Attendnace 22:23
attention 12:17 55:7
attorney 6:8,14,15 26:24 27:1 29:2,10,19,22 30:6 31:25 32:12,16,20 33:3 38:8 41:15 49:3 62:10,15
audience 10:19 50:1
audiences 43:18
audio/visual 6:6
authority 13:11
authorization 55:16
auto 26:17
award 18:7,8,9,10,25 20:5,6,7, 16 22:22,23,24,25 23:1,2,21 43:14
awards 22:22 39:6
awe 47:24
aye 5:12,13,21,22 15:17,18 16:25 17:1 19:13,14 21:2,3 25:17,18 80:12,13
ayes 5:25

B

back 10:21 13:17 14:14 21:24 22:4 33:25 48:17 49:11 53:3 57:7 60:15 64:1 67:22 69:6,16 76:25 77:5

badge 18:5 20:2
bags 41:1 46:1
balance 66:23
ban 77:14
band 22:19 40:22 48:2
Bank 46:19
Banks 7:3
banter 52:21
Barbara 39:6
bargaining 31:3
baseball 18:8 20:5 22:24
based 53:8 59:9 60:11
basically 11:24 70:19 75:9
basis 61:2
battery 74:12
beautiful 36:18 45:7
Beechwood 76:13
began 17:20 19:22
beginning 49:8 70:5
behalf 4:7 47:18 54:9
beings 66:25
Bell 4:20 5:17 12:7 13:12,16, 22,25 15:1,20 16:6 21:6,8 24:5 25:1,4,8,13,14 36:23 38:5 49:15,23 57:14,15 58:4 62:23 63:12 67:15
Bell's 51:25
belt 45:8 49:21
Beltz 36:25
benefits 38:23
Bernice 71:24 73:19
Bettison 73:20
biased 71:14
bills 73:1
birth 51:5

bit 43:11,19 54:15 71:14

black 52:12 76:16

Blenheim 68:19

Blossom 6:20,21 10:5 36:3,7,
8 41:6 54:8,19

Blount 65:6,10,11

blue 21:13,14 22:8,17 23:5
24:14,24 31:6

blurb 11:18

board 4:7 6:1,8,14,16,19,24
8:4,7,13,15 9:6,22 10:4,18
11:6,17,20,22 12:2,4,5,8,9,10,
12,16 14:18 15:3 17:8 18:24
20:14 21:10 23:20 24:10 33:8
36:5,12,13,24,25 37:12,15,25
38:2,8 39:4 40:6,7,16 42:2,6
43:15 44:7 46:16 47:19 49:16,
17,18,19,20,21,24 50:4,10
51:6,16,22 55:5,15,25 56:6,
20,22 58:10,25 59:6 60:25
62:10,15 63:17,20,22 64:1,16
65:10 66:14,18 68:5 69:14
72:12,15 75:17 79:10

board's 42:19

boat 54:15,16,22,24

body 28:25 43:14 46:12 58:7,
14 79:2,9,11,17

book 39:23

booklet 39:22 40:11

BOPC 6:2,9 9:5 36:4 45:2

born 48:15

Bowl 23:1

breathhtaking 45:10

Brenda 41:18 65:7 72:4

Brian 36:22

bribery 66:3

bring 12:16 33:8 48:19,20
52:19 53:22,24 55:15 58:20

bristled 67:2

broached 63:13

Brooks 4:21 5:18 9:15 16:7
17:12,13,17 46:14 48:7,10,11
50:5 54:7,12 58:8

brought 21:19 27:20 29:12
33:4 34:15 45:15 48:21 50:7
78:6

Brown 4:18,19 5:24 6:16
10:22 11:12 14:7,9 16:1,2
17:3 19:10 20:25 29:20,22
32:4 33:11,14 34:4,23 35:4
56:16,18 58:17 61:25 62:1
65:3,4,22 66:12 68:4 70:1
72:3 73:11 75:15 77:9 78:3,6,
8 80:3

Brown's 35:7 57:10,18

brutality 42:11

building 73:7 74:4

Burch 4:23,24 5:8 16:8 41:4
47:21 61:19,23,25 62:23,25

bureau 45:18 69:22

Burglaries 26:15

Burton 4:11 62:2 71:16 73:20

business 5:6 49:25 58:6,14
61:20,22 62:22

Butler 42:22

bylaw 13:7 14:11,13

bylaws 10:3 11:7 12:13,20
13:5,9,12,13,16,21,24,25
14:4,5 70:5

C

C3 44:10

Caitlyn 6:7

call 49:25 65:5 67:16 77:14

called 22:4 44:18 54:16 76:24

calls 55:10

cam 79:2,9,17

camera 74:4,9

Cameron 36:25

cams 79:11

cane 71:25 73:20

CAPA 44:18

Captain 50:22

capture 53:2

card 10:20,22

cards 10:21 49:12

care 25:25

career 17:21 18:6 19:23 20:3
22:16,18 23:13 27:17

Carjackings 26:14

Carl 41:14

Carlton 9:21 19:19,20 20:1,17,
22

carried 59:4

carries 21:5

Carter 4:9 37:25 38:14,15

case 12:11 14:15 28:11 32:13
61:2 68:13,14 69:8,16 74:17
76:8

Cass 40:21 45:11 48:2 50:22

catching 63:5

category 55:22

Cathleen 36:24

caught 69:3

caution 79:22

CBS 43:17

celebrated 9:5

celebrating 36:15

celebration 21:16 41:7 42:4,5,
15 43:6 46:8,18

celebrations 24:9

cell 10:25 79:17

center 36:14 44:10 71:11

central 19:25 22:9,10

ceremony 39:6 45:11

chair 4:5,6,15 5:4,5,10,14,19,
23,25 6:3 7:5,8,14,17,21,23
11:5,9,12 12:1,7,22,23 14:7,8,
23 15:6,8,12,14,19,24 16:13,
17,20,23 17:2,5,9,15 19:8,12,
15 20:23 21:1,4,10 24:3,20,22
25:12,16,19 26:20,22,25 29:2,
5,20,21 31:21 32:2,9,17 33:9,
11,13 35:6,13,24 46:21 47:8
48:10 49:5,13,15 52:21,22,25
53:1 54:6,8,11,20,25 55:6
56:14,16,17,25 57:14,15 58:5,
13,16 59:13,21,24 60:7,16
61:9,17,21,24 62:1,18 63:10,
12,13 64:17 65:4 67:25 68:3
69:18,20 70:12,22,24 71:1,3,
6,8 72:2 73:9 75:2,6,13,16
77:8,10 78:23 79:12 80:1,3,5,
8,11,14

chairperson 4:9 36:24 37:25
38:4,15 58:15,21 60:2

chairpersons 36:21

challenges 38:16

chance 54:23

change 11:13,16,23 13:7,8,11,
20,21,23,25 14:5,6,11,13
73:19

changed 14:4

Channel 76:18

Chaplain 4:12,13,15

chapter 8:13 75:21

character 52:10

charge 28:18,21 69:22 71:6

charged 27:14 29:8 79:19,20,
22

charges 27:20 60:23 79:19,20

Charles 9:25 21:8,23,24 24:1
42:22 75:21

chart 10:2 11:3,7,15 12:2,7,15

charter 8:12 11:18,25 12:20
41:9 42:12,16 43:4 64:6 70:8,

9

charter's 15:2

check 57:9

cherry 24:11

chief 6:11 7:6,7,10,13,14 8:5
10:11,14 11:16,21 12:4 14:17
15:4 18:8 20:4 22:1,22 25:9,
21,23 26:20,22 28:9 29:22
33:1,7,10 34:3,14,25 35:1,19,
25 38:5 50:15 51:10 55:8 56:8
59:5,21,24 60:16,17 61:2,13
68:25 69:10,20 73:20 75:17
76:22 79:23

chief's 10:7,23 22:22 25:21
28:13 32:21 33:8

chiefs 51:11 78:15

children 22:21

Christmas 8:8

Christopher 26:1

Christy 9:7 43:9

Church 64:21 65:1

Cincinnati 76:8

CIT 44:14

citation 18:8

citations 20:4

cities 50:21

citizen 8:2 53:23 68:7 70:8

citizenry 23:3

citizens 8:15,20 18:11,13,21,
25 19:5 20:7,9,15,20 23:8,20
27:9,25 54:5 62:4 72:15

city 8:12 9:23 19:4 20:20
21:15 23:25 27:25 41:17,21
44:7 45:7 46:9 47:25 49:11
53:8 64:9 68:8,18 73:2 76:9,
16 77:12

city's 43:1

civic 41:19 42:2

civil 8:20 46:23 76:11

civilian 8:13,19,25 9:6 36:11
37:20 38:7,23 39:8,13 41:10,
24 51:23 72:14

clarification 12:6

clarify 32:5

clear 15:1,2,4 51:21

Cleveland 75:25 76:12

climbing 51:4

clip 74:18

closed 77:24,25 78:6

coincided 42:8

coincidence 65:25

Coleman 52:18

collaboration 36:16 39:19

collective 31:3

College 46:23

color 52:17

Comerica 46:19

comical 66:16

Commander 69:21

commands 35:20

commemorate 40:22

commemorating 40:9,25

commemorative 40:10

commend 47:21 48:2

commendation 20:7 67:17

commendations 18:11 23:2

comment 47:19 53:13 63:1
66:15 75:18

comments 10:19 35:25 55:1
57:24 58:6 62:22 64:18 65:2
68:1 72:8 73:15 75:3 78:1,23

commission 61:25 64:13 76:9

commissioner 4:10,18,19,21,
23,25 5:2,8,9,18,24 7:19,20,
21,22,23 11:5,8,12 12:22,24
13:18,20,23 14:2,7,9,22 15:8,

13,21,22,23 16:1,2,4,5,7,8,9,
10,11,12,14 17:3,4,11,12,13,
17 19:9,10,11,16,18 20:24,25
21:6 24:22 25:5,11,15 26:21
29:4,6,7,17,20,22 31:23 32:4,
21,22 33:11,13,14 34:4,23
35:4,5,7,14,15,23 36:23 38:4,
14 41:4 42:23 46:14 47:20,21
48:4,10,11 49:6,7,14,23 50:3,
5,12 52:23,24,25 53:1 54:7,12
56:16,18 57:10,14,18,19,23
58:8,15,16,17,18,19 59:14
60:2,8,18 61:19,23,25 62:1,2,
22,23,25 63:11 65:17,22 66:5,
15,18 67:15 68:6 69:14 71:15,
18 75:22 77:11,13 78:2,3,4,6,
8 80:2,8,10

commissioners 4:16 5:6 7:18
8:7 9:11,15 11:6 12:9 13:1,2,
20 14:3 18:24 19:6 20:15
23:20 24:11 27:1 29:3 31:22
32:3,10 36:12 37:21 38:1,9
39:4 40:7 42:7,16,19 43:3
49:14 51:7 52:19 63:6,20
66:19 70:2,9 72:12 75:17,25
76:2 79:23

commitment 18:15 19:4
20:10,20 23:15,24 27:12,24
61:2

committee 36:21 37:2,9,12,15
41:13 55:4 58:21

communicate 52:7

communication 23:4

communities 18:14 23:9

community 6:21 8:11 9:13
22:5,10,19 25:6 36:2,8,17
38:21 39:18 41:16 42:5 44:17
46:9,23 51:17 63:24 64:6,7,
22,23,24

competencies 37:17 39:11,13

competent 72:14

complaint 34:6,9

complaints 8:16 34:6,22 35:8

completed 9:1

completely 71:25

compliance 8:16 12:2 13:5

computers 57:2,5

comradery 48:1

concept 49:25 50:9 53:9

concern 7:25 12:17 73:13

concerned 58:22 63:14 64:14

concerns 8:2 71:22

conclude 46:8 56:13

concluded 80:15

conclusion 29:13 31:25 69:23

conduct 67:4 73:22

conducting 4:6 67:3

conference 9:1,18 10:6 21:17
33:15 36:2,11,15,18,19,20,21
37:2,4,7,9,11,13,15,16,17
38:13 39:1,12,16,21,22,23,24
40:3,19,25 41:5 42:4 44:20,23
45:3,15,22 46:1 49:22 50:6,
16,24 51:11 54:2 66:21 74:2,5
75:18

conferences 44:13

Confetti 68:20

confidence 72:13

conflict 52:5

Conforcement 17:23

conform 10:3

confront 10:15

congratulate 24:1 63:1

Congratulations 24:21

congressional 66:2

congressman 52:11,15

conjunction 33:20 78:13

connect 48:7

consent 22:23 39:3 66:10

consideration 8:24

considered 15:9 31:11

consist 39:12

consisted 40:3,20

consistent 11:24 12:13,19
13:22 15:5 35:20

consisting 37:18

consists 39:24

constantly 48:12

constants 69:10

constituents 62:4

consummate 18:21 20:13
23:18

contact 50:7 69:1

contacted 24:23 68:25 69:10

content 9:4

contest 74:11

continue 64:4 66:16 73:6
79:15

continued 22:14 66:23

continues 66:6

continuing 47:5

continuously 65:16

contract 28:8,12

contractual 31:2

contributed 18:18

contributions 9:22

control 8:14

convenience 40:1

conveniently 65:16

convention 45:18

conversation 59:6

conversations 47:1

convey 52:4

coordinator 36:8

copies 57:12,25

copy 10:17 13:13,14,16 34:1,
24 56:24 57:17,19,21 58:3
62:9 70:4,15

core 37:17 39:11,13

Corporal 9:25 21:8,22 22:14,
16 23:7,14,22 24:1,3,8 25:3,
20 33:2 66:6

Corporals 21:24

corporate 62:10

Corr 36:22

correct 10:2 57:18

correction 51:5

correctional 39:19

correlation 34:5,21

corrupted 79:7,17

corruption 65:14 66:3

Cotta 17:22

council 41:17 62:10 63:16
73:2

counsel 37:20 38:7,22,23

countries 47:13

country 37:14 40:12 47:12
48:21 51:2,3

County 46:23 78:19

couple 44:6 55:23 56:6,11
57:25 63:18 64:10 72:10

courage 36:16

court 6:7 19:24 29:8,11 32:13
60:12,24 73:16 76:8 79:4

covering 77:19,21

Craig 22:1 38:5 50:15 51:10
69:1 76:23

Craig's 68:25 69:11

Crawford 65:9 77:9,10,11
78:25 79:14

create 79:24

created 53:23 78:12

credible 72:21 78:20

credit 18:16 20:11 23:16 51:16

crime 10:8 21:19 22:7,8 26:9,
19 53:10 55:9 63:2,9 76:21

crimes 26:15,18

criminal 18:3 32:16 45:23
60:19

criminalize 74:25

criminally 29:9

criminals 10:13 63:5

critical 10:8

Cromwell 7:1

Cross 74:3,13

Cruise 45:6

culture 39:18

current 42:16 43:12 54:22
56:1 57:8

Curtis 53:16 54:3

cut 79:11

cutting 74:17

D

D.C. 7:6 69:19

DA 74:10

dad 67:16

daily 65:23

Damon 77:2

Darius 26:6

Darryl 4:19 74:3,13

data 53:9

date 28:20 60:12

date's 60:12

dated 68:23

Dattahn 26:7

daughters 24:23

Davis 4:25 5:1,9 15:13 16:10
17:4 19:11,16,18 25:15 29:4,
7,17 31:23 35:5,14,15,23
43:16 49:6,7 75:22 80:10

day 11:22 22:4 31:16 45:14
47:10 49:8 74:5

days 47:10 50:15 53:3 61:6

deal 21:18

dealing 12:11 51:13 76:6,15

dear 48:6

Deborah 65:6

decades 23:13

decide 54:17

decision 28:9 58:24 60:10,22

decision's 59:9

decisions 52:1 58:22 59:17
60:11

decree 39:3 66:10

dedicated 20:18

dedication 18:16 19:2 20:11
23:16,23

defense 32:16

deify 67:12

delayed 66:6,7

Delta 45:2

demeanor 34:7,9 67:10

democracy 39:9 74:21

Democrats 72:24

department 8:4,15,16 10:1,9,
14 17:18 18:13,16,17,25
19:21 20:9,12,16 21:25 22:18
23:8,17,21 24:14 27:4,7,8,13,
24 28:18 30:8,13 38:6 39:5
43:8 46:22 51:3 63:5 68:12
72:13 74:15 75:25 76:13
78:13,14

depend 57:19

depicted 71:15

deputy 7:7,10,13 25:21,23
26:22 33:1,7 34:3,14,25 35:19
59:21,24 60:16,17 61:13 67:6
69:20 73:20 75:17 76:22

Derrick 42:23

descriptions 39:12,17

deserving 18:7 20:3 22:21

designate 44:8

desk 58:1

detail 39:21

detailed 55:2 66:2

detective 68:21 69:4,22

determination 28:10,13,14
29:14 30:19

determine 29:7 35:9 57:3

determined 28:2 30:21

Detroit 4:1 8:12,22 9:1 17:18
18:13,14,17,24,25 19:5,20
20:9,10,12,14,15,16,20 21:15,
25 22:2,20 23:8,9,10,17,19,
21,25 24:10,13 27:7,8,24,25
28:16,18 30:8,12 36:12,14
37:18,19,21,25 38:1,6,8,12
39:4,5 40:6,14 41:8,10,20
43:19 44:10,21 45:6,9,11,16,
21,22 46:5,9 47:14,17 48:13,
19,21 49:11 63:1,7 64:22 65:1
68:8,18 72:13 74:15 75:22
76:4,7 77:3,12 78:11,12,14
79:2,7

Detroit's 47:6

Detroiter 48:9,12 65:11

Detroiters 48:8

developed 41:12

development 18:19

devices 11:1

Dewaelsche 4:5,6,15 5:5,10,
14,19,23,25 7:5,8,14,21,23
11:9 12:1,23 14:8,23 15:6,12,
14,19,24 16:13,17,20,23 17:2,
5,9,15 19:8,12,15 20:23 21:1,

4 24:3,20 25:12,16,19 26:20,
25 29:2,5,21 31:21 32:2,9,17
33:9,13 35:6,13,24 47:8 48:10
49:5,13 50:5 52:22,25 54:6,
11,25 56:14,17,25 57:14 58:5,
13,16 59:13,21 60:7,16 61:9,
17,21,24 62:18 63:10 64:17
67:25 68:3 69:18 70:12,22
71:1,3,6 72:2 73:9 75:2,6,13
77:8 78:23 79:12 80:1,5,11,14

dialogue 47:4

difference 52:13

dignitaries 40:7

diligence 22:11

diligent 19:3 20:18 23:23

diminished 53:18

dinner 9:7,16,18 10:6

direct 45:16 70:22 78:23

direction 14:12 33:15 64:15

directive 55:9,10,12,13,15,18,
21

directly 11:22 12:5 55:15

director 7:11 14:16 15:2,3
37:1

disappeared 22:15

disapproval 72:16,18,20

disciplinary 33:4

discipline 59:8,23

disciplined 59:1

discriminatory 8:18

discuss 37:4

discussed 38:16 39:3 70:5

discussion 5:11,20 11:11,14
14:10,20,24 15:7,16 16:24
38:3,18 56:10 78:7

discussions 37:6,22

disgrace 74:2,6

dished 34:13

dishonesty 27:22

disorderly 73:22

displayed 22:11 40:11

displays 40:13

disruptive 71:16

disservice 59:3

distinguish 30:6

distinguished 9:10

distribute 58:1

distributed 56:5

distribution 57:9

District 4:19,20,24 5:1 18:2
22:9

disturbing 77:23

diverse 42:18

division 17:23,25 19:25 55:18

DMC 46:22

dock 45:11

doctors 39:9 74:21

document 30:16

documentary 54:22

documents 68:13

dog 74:24,25

dog's 75:1

dollars 44:19

domestic 52:5

double 31:11

DPD 7:9 21:10 27:1 50:18,20
51:15,20,22 64:14

DPLSA 31:4

DPO 56:2

DPOA 31:4

drafted 12:18

drafting 73:1,2

draw 55:7

drawn 64:4
dream 52:18
Driving 22:23
dropped 79:19,20
due 26:2,3,7,8
Duggan 9:10 41:17 42:25 76:17
duties 27:6 43:4
dutifully 17:22 19:24 22:4
duty 23:14 32:14
dynamic 38:3 46:25
dysfunctional 71:17

E

e-mail 54:1 57:8,20 62:9,16 70:15,16 74:19
e-mails 56:21
earlier 77:17
early 41:12,15 44:1 45:19
East 64:21
Eastern 18:2
echo 49:7
edited 79:8
education 37:2
effective 72:14
effort 48:4
efforts 10:15 47:18
elected 7:15 49:20 50:2,9 65:20
electronic 10:25
elements 53:17
eliminate 8:17
Elizabeth 4:21 9:15
Elliott 41:14
emergency 77:3

employment 33:21,24 34:15 35:10
empowered 8:13
emulate 50:21
encourage 51:17 57:15
end 10:18,23 49:9 63:23
endured 41:25
enforcement 8:25 9:14,23 17:25 18:6,19 20:3 22:16 23:13 36:11 39:14,15 51:4
engagement 37:10 38:17,19
Engineers 46:20
enjoy 54:24
enjoyed 9:11
ensemble 40:21
ensure 37:8
ensured 46:15
entertain 63:25
entertainment 40:19
entire 27:4 53:6
environment 37:24
environments 77:6
era 43:9,12
Eric 65:6,11
error 64:11
established 12:21 64:5
estimate 53:14
ethical 27:5
Eva 4:6
evaluate 37:5
evening 9:12 42:7 75:16 77:10
event 9:4 42:18,20 43:16,21 44:4,7 45:10 46:5 47:23 57:13 63:2
events 22:10 23:12 41:19 46:10,12,18

evidence 69:7
Evolution 37:19 38:1
examination 55:16
examine 28:11
examined 38:18,23
examining 31:1
examples 34:24 65:15
exceeded 36:19 38:12 50:23
excuse 42:9,18
excused 4:11
executive 6:23 36:3,6 58:21 59:6
existing 10:3
expectations 36:20 38:13 50:23
expected 45:18 47:15
expeditiously 58:25
experience 47:20
explain 53:12
express 7:25 72:16 73:13
expressed 43:1
expressing 72:18,20
extended 55:17
extending 59:7
extremely 50:10

F

Facebook 24:23
facial 65:19,21 66:3 72:17,18, 20,22 73:1,3,23 75:24 76:1, 10,14 77:14
facility 25:25
facing 10:8
fact 13:4 34:2,10 48:14 57:23 59:10 65:17
facts 28:11

failed 16:15 72:15
failures 67:13,14
Faith 65:6 66:12,13,14 68:2
fall 55:22
fallen 8:1
falls 29:24
false 27:22 28:2,3 30:15,16
31:15 65:18 74:14 79:25
families 8:1
family 42:21,22
fantastic 24:8,9,12
fatigue 33:17 34:5,21
fault 75:1
faults 67:13,14
favor 5:11,20 15:15,17 16:24
19:13 21:1 25:16 80:12
Faye 6:19
featured 54:21
featuring 38:3
feel 13:8 59:3,5,15,17,20
60:14 79:15
fellowship 9:12
fight 76:12
file 28:17
final 46:17
finally 46:3 60:23 68:6
financial 76:8
find 37:7 43:12 62:8 69:2 74:1
finding 27:21 47:3
Fine 7:20
finish 24:10
fired 28:1
fix 65:21 66:8
flat-lined 67:2
floor 14:24 16:16

focal 12:10 49:23
focus 53:12
focused 38:21 46:14
focusing 51:8
FOIA 75:10
fold 35:2
folks 54:1
follow 14:5
follow-up 54:9
force 8:19
Ford 63:3
forget 50:14
forgot 54:14
formal 42:15 46:17
format 64:3
formed 22:17
formula 34:18
forward 21:9 28:19 47:5
fought 49:18
found 29:11 65:24 69:3,7
foundation 58:9
founders 40:6,16
frame 41:24 78:16
framed 23:4
fraud 68:9
free 75:12 79:15
Fresh 41:3
Friday 33:23
front 47:25 60:24
full 9:18 64:16 71:21
fun 54:24
function 41:24
functioned 12:8
functions 11:20

fund 44:20 54:13
fundraiser 54:13
Funeral 18:9 20:6 22:25
future 44:20

G

galvanize 41:16
galvanized 43:7
garden 40:5 45:10
Garrison 28:5,24
Garza 4:6
gathering 42:16
gave 9:23 27:13 45:12 51:15
71:19
generations 22:20
George 65:8 75:15,16
gifts 40:25
Giglio 29:24 30:7,9,18,20,22,
23 32:10,12
give 27:18 28:22 30:17 31:6
34:17 43:3,10 44:8 46:24
58:12 63:8,16 65:15 68:6 72:5
giving 44:9 60:5 74:16
glad 24:15 45:5 77:1
Glenn 65:7 70:1,2,3,16,24
71:2,10
GM 40:4 45:10
goal 51:9,10
good 4:5,18,23,25 5:2 6:20,22,
24 7:7,22 34:23 36:5,7 48:22
49:1 50:11 51:20 54:17 65:10
70:2 73:12 74:20 75:16 77:10
gorgeous 45:9
Grace 46:22 64:25
graduating 17:19 19:21 22:2
Grant 26:24 27:1 59:25

graphics 43:24
grateful 48:4 54:20
great 9:22 21:18 34:3 45:13 46:7
Greek 79:6
grew 42:12
grievance 56:1,3,19,24
Griffie 7:24 11:8 12:22,24 13:18,23 14:2 15:8,23 16:5 65:17 78:3 80:8
Griffie's 78:4
group 68:18 77:2
groups 72:17
grow 21:14 43:25
growls 74:24
grown 51:1
guess 13:18 21:20 61:9
guests 9:10 40:24
Guidance 44:10
guide 39:23
gun 26:1,4
guy 34:10

H

Ha 7:11 26:24 27:1 29:3,10,19, 22 30:6 31:25 32:12,20 33:3 59:25
half 20:18 24:15 63:16,17 64:2,12 72:7
hall 37:23 41:14,15
Hammer 38:9 77:1
handicapped 61:7
happen 13:10 59:10,11
happened 67:22
happening 51:3,15
happy 28:25 74:7

hard 49:18,22 57:17,19,21 58:2
harm's 32:7
Hartley 6:7
Harvey 23:1
Hayes 69:21
headquarters 8:9 40:5
heal 39:10
health 44:12,14
hear 48:13 51:16,19 54:24 74:7
heard 28:4 44:13 47:14 61:10 68:7
hearing 5:20 7:17 15:17 16:24 28:19,20 30:18,19 32:19 33:4 37:22 58:6 64:18
held 40:4 42:1
helped 43:10 44:11,16 45:17 46:2,11,25 48:23
helpful 70:10
helps 69:14
Henley 9:25 21:8,23,24,25 22:3,11,17 23:7,14,22 24:1,8 25:3,20
Henry 63:3
Hicks 5:4 6:1,3 16:1,9,12,14, 19,22 17:6 47:22 48:6 55:6 57:1,23 70:14,18,21 71:4,5,8
high 34:6 40:22 48:15
highest 19:5 20:21 23:25
highlight 42:24
highlighted 40:11 65:14
highly 18:20 20:12 23:17 49:20
Hill 65:7 72:3,4
hire 11:19 15:3 52:12
hired 14:18

historically 12:8 50:11
history 10:12 28:16 42:19 50:13,14
hold 10:23
holding 74:1
holidays 8:8
Holley 7:19,20,21,22 14:22 15:21 16:4 32:21,22 58:15,17, 19 59:14 60:2,8 61:18 66:5, 15,19
Holmes 21:18
Holt 5:2,3 11:5 15:22 16:11 24:22 25:5,11 52:24,25 53:1
homage 41:22 42:5
home 26:2,3,5,6,8 48:12
homicide 26:10
honest 27:11
honesty 27:6
honor 21:10 43:15 68:6
honorable 28:25 36:12 38:2 39:2 43:14 46:12 66:13
honorarium 44:8,9
honorary 41:12,17
honored 48:23 63:6
honoring 19:18 21:22
honors 24:9
hope 9:21 29:17 50:22 51:7 74:21 76:17
hospital 32:24
hospitality 45:4 49:25 50:22
host 40:6 41:13,17 44:7 45:2 50:6
hosted 36:13 41:8 46:5
hosting 44:7 47:2
hotel 45:19 79:16
hour 63:16,17 64:2,11,12 72:7

hours 33:20,21,22,25 34:11,
13,15,17,18 63:18,19 72:10

House 72:25

housekeeping 6:5

HR 6:18 14:15

Hudson 44:23

human 66:25 67:13,15

Hundreds 72:15

Hunter 74:13

hurt 59:16

I

i.e. 30:4

idea 54:17 74:20

identify 34:5 37:5

identity 68:8

immediately 6:8 10:1

impacting 10:17

impaired 30:20,22

impartial 30:19,21

impeachable 32:15

impeding 10:13

Imperial 41:3

important 8:3,23 9:8 63:4 66:1
75:4

impressed 47:14 50:19 66:22
67:8,24

impression 62:11

inaudible 24:6

incident 78:9 79:6,18,21

included 36:21 37:8 45:23

increase 8:21 72:12

independence 38:25

independent 37:20 38:7,22,23

indicating 57:5

indication 30:11

individual 30:23 31:5,7,18
35:20 51:8

individuals 17:7 31:1

industry 65:13 66:4

information 8:6 22:7 30:14
56:7,20,21 57:3,4,9 69:2,7

initial 42:4 55:11

initially 53:7

initiated 53:8

injured 8:1,5 25:24

input 45:3 70:8

insecure 60:3

insensitive 52:14

inside 79:16

insights 9:8 43:11

inspiration 24:17 43:7,11

instance 33:22 63:18

institutional 39:18

instructing 67:19,20,21

insulted 71:17

integrity 18:16 19:4 20:11,19
23:16,24 27:16 78:21

intention 32:5

interactions 23:10

interface 21:13,14

intern 43:25

internal 29:12,14 61:4,6

internally 61:3

interns 43:22

interrupting 11:2

intervention 44:15

introduce 4:17 6:2,10 7:9,11,
19

introduced 53:10

introducing 6:13

introductions 6:12

investigate 17:24

investigates 8:15

investigation 18:3 27:19,20
29:13 32:1

investigations 39:14

Investigative 18:2

investigator 6:11 7:1,2,3 9:20
11:16,21 12:4 18:4,6,12 19:2,
6

invitations 40:16

invite 40:18

invited 4:11

invocation 4:12,14

involve 43:21

involved 9:3 30:3

involves 56:3,8

involving 10:11 28:24 68:9,14
69:7

irrevocable 73:5

issue 10:15,17 50:1 51:12
62:12 63:14,23 76:1,11 77:7
79:8

issues 10:8 31:2

items 6:5 8:23 40:3 41:2,5
55:7 56:12

J

Jackson 4:12

jail 29:18

jam 45:21

James 38:5

January 19:21 46:15

Japan 47:12

jazz 40:21

Jeffrey 68:11
jeopardy 31:11
Jermaine 6:14 38:8 62:15
Joann 65:7
job 7:22 19:7 20:22
John's 64:21
Johnson 6:19 25:24
join 7:18 9:21 54:22
joined 7:16
joining 4:8 7:24
Jones 7:2 33:2 41:18 66:6
journalism 45:23
Joy 65:1
judge 30:19,21 52:8,13 77:2
judging 52:10
Judgment 22:24
Judith 39:2
July 25:3 42:8
jump 73:21
jumped 33:18
June 68:23,24
justice 43:8 45:24 51:3 69:13, 17 74:16 77:2

K

Keanen 53:19
Keith 77:2
Kemeny 71:11
key 9:7 37:5 39:1,5 51:12
Khalil 44:1
kick 74:23
kicked 41:11 74:25
kids 21:12
kind 60:23 61:7 74:2

King 52:9,18 68:19
Kmack 74:4
knowledge 57:6,11

L

labor 28:17,21
ladies 47:22 48:5
lady 32:24
Lafayette 64:22
language 13:13
Larcenies 26:16
Larry 9:20 17:17 18:4 19:2,6
lastly 66:9
late 46:15
law 8:25 9:14,23 18:6,19 20:3 22:10,14,16 23:13 36:11 39:8, 13,15 51:4 74:15
laws 8:17 13:22
lead 53:24
leaders 40:17
leadership 9:15 38:20 46:14, 20 47:6
leads 65:18
league 18:8 20:4 22:24
learned 49:3
learning 43:24
leave 65:16
leaves 61:7
leaving 63:23
left 4:17 48:16
legacy 52:9
legendary 22:17 41:15
leisure 40:1
lengthy 63:15
lent 44:3

Leonard 4:12
lessons 43:11
letter 68:20,23 69:5
letters 18:11 20:7 23:3
letting 68:2
Levalley 35:1
level 21:20
Levin 41:14
Levy 39:2
liaison 19:24
lie 74:11
lied 29:8
lien 35:2
lies 69:4,15 77:19,21
lieu 44:9
lieutenant 69:2
lieutenants 56:4,9
life 8:21 9:20 52:17 54:5
lifelong 23:24 65:11
light-hearted 66:17
likewise 28:23
limit 65:3
Linden 54:20
Lisa 4:9 37:25
list 29:25 30:2,7,9,10,23,24 31:24 67:16
listed 38:11 55:7
listen 53:16
listening 66:20
listing 8:4
lists 54:10
literacy 76:7
living 68:9
lobbied 49:19,22

local 9:6,9 47:1
located 10:21
logo 44:2
long 39:3 49:18 54:21 63:25 64:4
long-term 25:25
looked 78:22
Lopez 9:8 43:9
lose 52:6
lost 79:8
lot 32:8 35:16 47:17 49:3 65:13 66:25 71:19 75:23
loud 51:21
loved 47:25 48:1
loving 48:3
lucky 24:14 47:9
luncheon 39:6
lying 29:24 74:8

M

Madam 5:4 6:3 11:12 12:7 14:7 15:8 21:10 29:20 33:11 46:21 49:15 52:21 55:6 56:16 57:15 58:15 60:2 62:1 63:12 65:4 77:10 80:3,8
made 11:10 22:6 28:2 30:15 31:15 42:17 47:23 49:16 52:1, 11 55:13 61:2 68:10 69:4,9 71:16,20 78:2,3
mailboxes 57:4
mailed 40:15
maintenances 30:8
major 18:8 20:4 22:24 57:20 59:22
majority 72:23 73:3
majors 45:23,24
make 6:12 10:20 11:1 12:19 13:7,8,10 21:16 28:12 30:19

32:5 41:18 44:3 49:24 52:12 57:10,16,18 58:2,23 59:16,17, 25 60:10 66:15 70:14 75:18
maker 28:9
makes 28:9 29:14 66:16
making 6:4 27:22 41:22 42:2 45:5 58:22
male 66:1
males 78:9
malfunctioned 74:4
malfunctions 74:9
man 21:11 24:6,19 48:17
management 68:18 77:4
manager 6:23 36:3,6
mandated 43:4
manner 52:6
Marcella 6:17
marching 40:22
Mario 26:3
Mariott 36:14
mark 22:6
marketing 44:3
Markets 41:3
marquis 46:19
Marriott 40:14
Martin 78:1,18
material 32:15
materials 39:25
matter 28:5 33:4,5 34:2
matters 29:24 38:20 66:24
maximum 64:2,12
mayor 9:10 29:18 41:17 42:25 52:19 73:2 76:3,16,17
mayor's 63:15
mayors 43:2 50:12 51:12

MC 43:16
Mccalister 6:12,24,25 35:12
Mcellhiney 37:1
Mcquade 39:7
MDCR 46:24
mechanism 34:20 35:9,21
Media 6:6
meet 8:9,11 21:9
meeting 4:7,9,10 6:6,25 7:25 9:16 10:19 11:2 12:25 42:6,7, 8 55:14 58:10,11 62:3,4,19,20 63:16,17,24 64:2,3,5,12,19, 23,24 65:24 70:6 71:12,13,18, 24 76:3 77:22 80:6,15
meetings 37:23 63:15,24 64:7, 8 66:23 67:22,23 73:7
meets 8:7
Melanie 6:22 10:4 36:3,6 55:19
member 22:17 27:14 36:24,25 51:22 75:19
members 6:9 27:10,13 40:6, 16,18 42:21,22,23 56:6
memorable 42:17
Memorial 45:14
memory 42:24
men 21:19 41:22 42:18 79:19
mental 44:11,14
mention 44:5 54:12 71:23
mentioned 7:12 36:9 37:6 38:12 54:3 57:10 63:8,21 76:3
mentored 18:18
Merck 28:19
merit 19:5 22:22 23:14,25 52:10
merits 20:21 68:21
message 52:3,4

messages 22:20
met 37:3 48:14
Methodist 65:1
Metro 46:20
metropolitan 17:20 19:22 23:10
Mexico 47:12
mic 24:7
Michael 26:4
Michelle 65:8 68:19
Michigan 4:1 36:15 38:10 39:8 46:22 47:4 63:9 64:8 66:2 75:21
Mike 42:25
milestone 23:13
Miller 54:20 76:24
mind 17:14 54:2 64:1
Minnesota 53:23 54:4
minute 34:10 65:3 70:20 74:18
minutes 5:15 10:24 70:19 71:2,4,9,13,21 72:1,6,7 73:14 79:13
misconduct 8:18 28:24 31:18
missed 75:18
mission 51:8 72:11
model 41:10
models 38:19
modifies 8:17
Mohammad 44:1
Monday 20:1 33:22,25 39:2 55:25
money 44:9 48:24 49:1 54:15, 18 76:19,21,23,25
monitors 8:16
month 8:10,11 37:3 59:10 60:11

monthly 42:7
months 10:10 59:11 60:21 64:10 78:11
morning 62:20
motion 5:7,16 10:2 11:3,9,10 14:23 15:9,11 16:3,15,16,18 17:6 19:9 21:5 25:13
motor 26:7
motorcycle 26:2
move 11:6 13:17 14:9,21 20:22 26:9 31:8,9 64:15 80:8
moved 5:8,10,17 15:14 19:10, 12 20:24 25:14 31:2,7 80:11
movie 74:10
moving 47:5
mow 45:19 54:16,21,22
multiple 37:23 77:5
museum 63:4
music 22:19 40:19

N

NAACP 74:5
NACOLE 8:24 10:5 33:15 36:2,16,20,23,24,25 37:3,12, 15 40:3,15,23 41:8,21 42:4,14 43:6 44:5,8,19 45:5 46:6 47:2 48:20 50:16,24 51:6,11 65:12 66:21 74:1
NACOLE's 37:1,17 39:11 40:16,17
name's 65:11 77:11
named 43:15 44:17
names 7:12
narcotic 17:25
narcotics 30:4
narrative 65:18 78:12,16 79:24,25
national 8:24 21:17 36:10 40:9

41:10 45:13 49:16,23 74:2,5 75:19,20
nationally 23:11
native 48:9,11
natural 50:20
nature 57:20
Nay 5:24 15:22,23 17:3,4
needed 14:11
neighborhood 53:13,15
neighboring 18:14 23:9
network 9:14 75:19
news 43:17 78:11,14
night 51:12 54:23
noncriminal 8:15
nonemergency 55:10
Nonfatal 26:12
nonprofit 44:11
Nora 44:23
Northeast 44:10
Nos 16:14
note 9:7 10:10 39:1,5
noted 34:6 41:15 53:7
noticed 27:10 62:21
notifications 28:22
November 28:4 64:25
nude 32:24
numerous 18:11,18 20:7 23:3

O

Obama 43:9
objective 8:21 72:14
obligation 27:18 32:15
obligations 27:5,7 28:12
observe 62:3

obstruction 74:16
obtained 10:21
occurred 66:3 77:23,24
October 4:2 17:24 22:13 27:3 64:20
offer 53:20
offered 45:21 53:11 79:2
offerings 45:5
office 6:11 7:16 11:21 22:8 30:10 33:8 36:4 60:20 61:7 68:25 69:11 78:19
officer 8:2 9:20 17:20,21 19:19,22,23 20:1,3,8,17,21 22:3,11 24:13 25:24 26:1,3,4, 6,7 27:23 29:8,10,15 30:11, 13,15,17,20,21 31:9,10,12,13, 15,16,19,20 32:23 34:5 35:9 58:24 59:23 61:4,11 74:3,12, 18 77:12 79:7
officer's 28:17 74:9 79:17
officers 8:1,5 10:12 18:18 25:24 27:4,25 28:1 29:25 30:1,25 31:23 32:1,6 33:21,22 34:8 35:17 58:23 59:1 67:7 74:8,11 76:19,22,24 79:11
officers' 31:3
offices 11:19
official 27:12,23 64:8,9
officials 7:15 65:20,21
ongoing 47:4
open 73:6
opened 57:5
opening 39:1 50:17
operated 71:16
Operating 46:20
Operation 18:2
Operations 22:9
opinion 11:25

opinions 13:3
opportunities 45:23
opportunity 12:19 21:13 25:7 30:18 42:1 44:16 53:16 79:3
Oppose 15:21
opposed 5:14,23 15:19,20 17:2 19:15 21:4 55:16 77:14
option 74:1
oral 65:2
Orange 9:21 19:19,20,22,23 20:2,3,8,18,22
order 13:4,10 67:17
organization 11:3 12:20 44:11,15 45:3
organizational 10:2 11:7,15
organizations 9:9 51:2 64:6
organized 41:12
organizing 47:23
original 15:10 16:15,17 42:21 43:15
outreach 22:19 25:6 38:20
outstanding 9:8
overcharged 78:18
overlooked 71:22
oversight 8:14,19,25 9:6,9 12:14 36:11 37:14,20 38:7,19, 24 39:9,10,13,19 40:10,11,17 41:11,24 50:25 51:23 72:15
overtime 33:17,20 34:12,21 35:1,16,18
overwhelming 73:25
overworked 34:11
owe 27:7
owner 68:17

P

P.A.L. 22:6

p.m. 4:3 8:10 80:15
package 16:21
packages 10:18
packed 45:21
paid 63:21
panel 37:6 38:3,11 50:16 75:23,24 77:5
panelists 38:10
paper 57:12
paperweights 41:2
paperwork 30:1 68:15
parade 45:14
Parks 18:9 20:5 22:25
part 26:14 41:7 42:6,10 45:20 47:1 48:5 70:7
partai 76:4,5
participate 46:7
participated 37:21 38:3,15,18 40:8
participation 43:20 46:25
parties 64:14
partners 41:19 42:2
partnership 44:12,18
parts 71:12
party 66:2
passed 18:5 20:2 24:16
passionately 20:8
past 31:11,13,14 36:13,22,23 37:4 38:4 40:16 42:16 61:3, 14,15 63:3
Patrinsky 68:19
pay 41:22 78:1
peers 20:13
pens 41:2
people 9:14 12:25 23:5 24:18 42:12 44:14 45:8,18 47:2

48:1,14,20,21,25 49:9,12
50:1,19,24 51:14 52:4,12,13
59:16 63:23 65:18 68:17
69:13 72:9,24 73:5,24 74:1

percent 26:10,11,12,13,14,15,
16,17,18,19 76:16

perfect 18:7 22:22,23

perform 43:3 45:13

performance 27:6 45:13

performing 24:24 25:2

perjure 29:15

perjured 29:11

person 15:3 34:17 54:21 59:1
73:2 74:25 78:20

person's 7:17 32:18

personal 21:21

personnel 15:2 18:20

Peter 38:9

phone 79:17

phones 10:25

photographers 48:17

picture 45:25 48:17

pictured 45:24

pictures 48:18

Pigs 21:13,14 22:8,17 23:6
24:14,24

pinned 26:5

pioneer 44:11,16

pivotal 42:10

place 10:25 35:21 76:20

placing 30:22

planning 37:2,11,15 40:2

platform 46:4,8

played 22:19

pleasantly 47:16

pleased 47:16

pleasure 14:17

plenty 49:12

podium 21:9

point 8:23 12:10 13:19 15:1
31:17 32:4 34:19 49:23 59:5
71:11

police 6:17,21 8:7,9,14,17,18
9:11,20,25 10:8,11,16 11:6
15:4 17:20 18:13,17,24,25
19:6,19,20,22 20:1,9,12,14,
16,17,21 21:25 22:2,10,11,14
23:8,17,20,21 24:10,13 25:10
27:7,8,24 28:17,18 30:8,12
36:8,12 37:25 38:5,6,9,20
39:4,5 40:7,9 42:7,11,19 43:2,
10 44:12,18 46:14 51:6 59:19
63:5,7 67:6 68:10 69:9,14
70:7 72:12,13 73:23 74:8,9,
11,14,18,21 75:8,25 76:12,19,
20,22,24 77:12,13 78:12,14,
15,16 79:2,7

policies 10:17,18 39:15 67:10

policing 38:21 53:6,13,15

policy 6:23 8:17 36:6 55:18
73:2 79:10

politically 49:19

politics 51:9

Polly 6:11,25

popular 22:19

port 45:11

Portfolio 22:9

positions 12:4

positive 22:20 51:14

posted 62:5,20

posthumous 9:19 17:16

posthumously 19:1,19 20:17

posting 24:23 28:6

postponed 66:6,7

potential 10:13

potentials 30:2

poverty 53:17

powerful 53:21

PR 43:23 44:3

practice 39:7

practices 8:18

practitioners 39:9,10

praises 49:10

precinct 17:21,22 18:1 19:23,
24,25 22:3,5,7,9 42:9 64:21,
25 69:1

precision 53:6

preferred 13:2

prepare 30:9 46:2 70:21 71:3,
8

prepared 30:9,10,16

prepares 70:19 71:2

preparing 27:12

Presbyterian 64:21

present 71:11

presentation 36:1 38:2,14
53:6,21 58:12

presentations 10:4 43:14

presented 16:20

presenter 53:11

president 36:22 41:18 75:20,
22

prevention 21:19 22:7,8

preview 45:12

previous 12:9 43:1

previously 12:3

prior 6:4 78:2

priorities 8:3

privilege 21:11

probe 10:14

problem 10:11 71:1 72:8

problems 57:8
procedure 34:7,9
procedures 39:16 67:10
proceed 16:15
process 12:16 14:1,5 39:4
 43:24 44:23 47:2 50:21 51:11
 55:17 63:22 64:5
profession 39:7
professional 18:19,22 20:13
 23:18 50:8 67:8
professionalism 18:15 19:3
 20:10,19 23:15,24
professionally 67:4,5
professionals 9:23
Professor 38:9 77:1
program 39:22 40:10 44:17
 49:10
programs 45:1
project 35:2,3 54:4
projected 45:17
projects 46:13
promoted 17:24 22:13
promoting 38:24
promotions 56:3
proof 68:15,25
propaganda 78:13
proper 52:17
property 26:18 68:9,16
proposals 37:13,18
propose 64:1
prosecuted 29:16
prosecution 74:10
prosecutions 10:13
prosecutor 30:14,22 59:7,19
prosecutor's 30:9 32:14 60:20
 78:19

prosecutors 61:8
protect 8:20
protecting 32:6
protection 8:2
protocol 59:19 67:9
proud 44:21 46:4,9 47:23 48:7
 51:21
provide 4:12 8:6,13 9:17
 25:21 27:11 32:15 70:19
provided 9:8 10:7 22:20 24:19
 30:25 71:19
providing 6:6 36:10 41:4
 72:14
provoked 78:9
PSU 22:3
PTSD 74:23
public 10:19 17:18 18:15 19:3
 20:10,18 22:7 23:15,23 24:25
 38:16,19 39:14 43:2 44:25
 52:20 57:24 58:9 64:14 65:2
 70:4 71:20 72:8,12 73:15
publicized 28:7
Puerto 47:12
pull 10:16
punish 61:4,11
punished 31:13
punishing 31:12,19,20
punishment 66:9
punishments 59:8
push 76:25 77:4
put 30:3 48:3 60:12 63:25
 68:16,17 72:5 73:5,17 74:10
 76:20
putting 48:19

Q

quality 8:21 54:4

question 26:23 30:1 33:12,14
 35:5,7,11 56:13,18 70:17
questions 26:21 29:3 31:21
 32:2,9,19,20 33:10 35:24 47:7
 55:1 56:15 58:5 61:18 62:2,21
 64:18 70:23
quickly 75:6
Quinn 6:5
quorum 5:4

R

raise 48:24 54:18
raised 44:19 48:15 50:1 54:15
 63:18,23
rank 22:14
ranked 8:3
rates 53:10
rationale 61:12,16
RE/MAX 68:18
reach 59:25
reached 57:4 76:23
reaching 56:8
reaction 55:11
read 19:17 21:6,20 71:13
 78:10
real 66:8
realize 76:2 77:3
reason 13:6 25:5 31:6,9 76:25
reasons 11:23
reassigned 17:25
rebellion 42:11
Rec 71:11
recall 12:24 28:6
receive 56:24
received 41:1 57:11 71:20
receives 8:4 30:14

reception 40:4,20 50:17
recipient 18:7 20:4 22:21 44:24
recipients 43:15
recognition 18:9,10 19:1 20:5, 6,17 22:25 23:1,22 65:19,21 66:4 72:17,19,20,22 73:1,3,23 75:24 76:1,10,14 77:14
recognize 44:16 46:19 49:16
recognizing 9:22
recommendation 59:25
recommendations 70:9
record 65:11 66:14
records 73:6
recovering 25:25 26:2,3,5,6,8
rectify 12:15
reduction 26:10,11,14,16,18
reelected 49:18
reference 21:15 51:15 77:17, 25
referred 39:8
reflect 11:7 12:7 14:4
reflecting 62:16
reformence 42:12
regard 19:5 20:21 23:25 62:19
Reginald 65:9 77:11
registered 9:4
regular 42:7
related 9:16 59:23
relates 35:8
relating 38:16
Relation 22:5
relations 6:21 36:3,8
relationship 35:17 50:19
release 40:5,23
released 40:8

relevant 10:16 32:15
Relief 23:2
remarkable 23:12 38:8
remarks 8:6 21:21
remediation 39:16
remember 29:23
reminding 27:4
renaissance 36:14
render 60:22
renowned 40:21
renting 68:16
repeat 69:10 77:20 79:19
repeated 53:13
report 7:18 8:4 10:1,5,7,23 15:3 25:22 27:23 28:3 32:21 33:10 34:1 35:25 53:19 55:2, 5,25 56:4,5,13,24 59:22 60:6 68:10 73:14,18 74:12,13,14, 15
reported 10:11
reporter 6:7 73:17
reporters 65:16
reporting 11:17 12:5 14:16 55:9
reports 27:12 43:17 55:4 69:10 72:5,21 75:8,10
represent 63:6
representation 9:13
representatives 7:16 42:21
representing 7:6
reproduce 58:1
Republican 66:2
Republicans 72:25
request 10:7
resident 77:11
residents 8:22

resolution 9:24 11:4,7 17:11 19:1,16,18 20:16 21:5,21,22 23:22 28:21
resolutions 9:19 17:10
resolve 10:15
resolved 18:23 20:14 23:19
resource 53:25 54:1,10
resources 50:5,7,11 53:20,22
respect 21:18 41:6 44:6
respected 18:20 20:12 23:17
respectful 78:20
respective 31:3 50:8
respond 58:11
responded 78:5
response 78:5
rest 17:7 38:10
results 27:21 28:22 46:10
resurrect 25:6
retired 41:14 66:8 77:12
retirement 9:24 22:15
retiring 21:22
retreat 58:11
returning 53:23 54:5
Reverend 32:21 61:18 75:20
review 55:11,17,19 76:9
reviewed 63:15
reviewing 37:12 56:5
reviews 8:17
revisit 60:15
Reyes-morales 26:4
rich 9:4
Richard 68:20
Rico 47:12
ride 54:15,16,22,24
rights 8:20 46:23 76:11

rise 34:7
risk 30:3
river 45:6 47:25 75:20
Rivera 7:2 68:12,13,22 69:15
Road 65:1
Robberies 26:13
Robert 6:16 10:22
Roberts 68:11,21
Rodriguez 26:3
Rogers 74:15
role 37:19 38:6,22 41:9
rollcall 15:25
Rosa 18:9 20:5 22:25
Ruffin 65:6 68:4,5 69:25
Rule 78:18
ruling 60:23
run 48:25 49:16
runs 11:21,22
rust 45:8

S

safety 8:2 45:1
Sanders 42:23
Sankofa 40:4,20
sat 33:16 79:10
Saturday 33:23,24
schedule 56:10 72:6
scheduled 42:15
scholarship 44:20,24 54:13
scholarships 44:20
school 22:21 39:8 40:22 48:15 76:10
schools 24:25
secondary 33:20,24 34:15 35:10

seconded 5:11 11:10 15:15 19:13 80:12
secretary 6:1 11:17 12:4,11 14:16 55:5 56:25 70:18
Sectary 70:12
section 22:7,8 29:14
secure 45:6 54:9
seek 69:12
seeking 69:8
segments 43:21
selected 37:12,16
selections 45:4
self-funded 65:12
Senate 72:25
Senator 41:14
send 60:19 70:15
sending 46:17 48:18
senior 7:1,2 68:12
sensational 45:25
sensitive 66:24
separate 11:20
September 5:15 17:19 18:3 20:1 22:1 26:9 36:13 39:2 42:17 62:5 65:23
Sergeant 6:5 78:1
sergeants 56:4,9 78:17 79:21
serve 14:17 22:14 27:9 52:20
served 17:22 18:1,13,21 19:24 20:9 22:3,4 23:7 42:19 49:21 50:10,16
service 18:4,15 19:3 20:11,19 21:12 22:10 23:15,23 24:6 40:9,23 42:24 43:2 44:12 55:10
services 6:6
serving 12:9 49:23 50:10
session 38:15,22 39:25 77:24,

25 78:7
sessions 37:16 39:16,21 53:2, 3,5
set 57:2,5
settings 53:18
settlement 56:2,11
sexual 26:11
Shame 73:6
share 64:15
shared 43:17
Sharp 75:20
Sheffield 73:2
shepherding 43:22
shift 34:17
ships 44:21
Shirley 4:24 41:4
shootings 26:12
short 44:18
shot 26:1,4
shout 46:24
show 53:17 68:15,24 72:9
showed 34:1
showing 26:10,16,17
shows 39:20
sic 17:23 24:16 65:6 68:19 76:4
sides 13:1
Sidney 21:18 74:15
sightseeing 45:20
Sigma 45:2
significance 57:16
silent 74:10
Sinai 46:22
singing 49:10
single 47:10

sir 25:2 46:20
sit 17:13 58:10 60:20
sitting 57:25
situations 32:7
skills 43:25
slide 39:20
slight 26:17
slip 31:6
Smith 71:24 73:19
smoothed 67:3
smooths 66:17
snacks 41:4
software 76:20
solute 19:6 20:21 42:25 44:17
solution 14:13
Solutions 46:21
someone's 27:16,17
something's 59:10,11
sorority 45:2
sort 63:12
sought 42:12
source 78:19
South 76:6
southeast 17:23
souvenir 41:1
souvenirs 40:24
space 65:15
speak 13:12 25:8 26:24 33:2
 62:11 68:2 71:21 77:15
speaker 9:7 10:24 37:24 39:1,
 6 65:8 75:14 80:4
speaker's 10:20
speakers 38:4 43:5 44:9 65:5
speaking 18:24 20:15 23:20
 67:7,19

speaks 13:13
special 23:14 40:15,24,25
 41:3,13 42:14,25 43:13,14
 67:17
specially 40:18
specialty 32:8
spectacular 37:24 45:11
speech 43:10 60:3,4
spending 45:16
spent 50:15
spoke 47:11,24 51:12 68:11
spoken 68:7
sponsors 46:18,19
spring 43:22
St 64:21
staff 6:2,9,16 7:9 9:17 10:16
 11:22 12:11 37:21 46:25 49:2,
 19 50:18 55:3 57:16 71:4
Staffing 46:21
stain 73:5
stand 6:9 21:11 28:14 77:13
standard 19:4 20:19
standing 55:4
stands 32:11
star 18:9 20:5
start 7:10 25:23 72:11 77:16
started 46:15
starting 4:17
state 47:3 72:25
stated 69:15 76:13 77:17 78:9,
 17,21
statement 27:15,22 28:10
 30:16 31:10,15 52:11,14
 72:11
statements 27:11 28:2
states 32:13 42:20 47:13

stating 69:5
station 68:10
statistics 10:8
stats 53:8,9,12
status 59:22
stay 40:13 61:5
stayed 45:20 53:5
Steel 28:5,24
Stephanie 43:16
Stephens 9:20 17:18,20,21
 18:5,6,12 19:2,7
stolen 79:8
Stone 44:2
stop 21:21 44:25
stopped 25:1
stoppers 63:2,9
Straight 40:21 50:22
straightly 43:23
Strategic 46:21
strategy 53:7
streamline 64:3,11
stress 33:17
strict 61:5
strictly 25:9
stroke 60:4
strong 9:13
structure 13:3,4,8 14:4,6,14
structured 12:13
structuring 12:14
studies 72:21
study 32:1
subcommittee 37:10
subcommittees 37:3,8,10
subject 63:13

submitted 37:13 40:15
substantive 55:13,20
success 37:8 53:24
successful 9:1 44:22 49:17
suggestion 72:5
summary 36:1 73:16
summer 43:23
sundae 24:11
Sunday 18:3 33:23,24
Super 23:1
Superbowl 18:10 20:6
superiors 18:12 20:8
supervise 76:22
supervising 7:1
supervisors 23:2
supervisory 8:14
supplementing 53:21
supply 57:13
support 5:9,18 7:25 14:22
16:2,8,10 17:8 19:11 22:3,5
25:15 41:16 42:1 44:3 46:13
50:4,18 51:25 63:9 71:19
80:10
supported 44:4
supporters 40:17
supporting 13:6
supposed 33:23 53:25 54:4
56:20 60:12
Supreme 32:13
surprised 47:16
suspension 31:17 77:25
suspicious 73:16
swing 73:19
system 53:24 76:4,10
systems 57:8

T

table 10:21 14:9,20,21 15:9,15
16:3 78:7
tackle 77:7
takes 59:2
talk 14:12,19 41:8 43:19 44:14
48:13 69:21,23
talked 33:16 45:22 49:9,12
75:23 78:18 79:9
talking 11:18 23:5 27:16,17
33:1 60:4,5 62:3 67:20
taping 6:5
Taylor 44:2
te 55:5
teaching 67:18,19,20,21
Tech 45:12 48:2 50:22
Technical 40:22
technology 72:17,19,21,23
73:1,3,24 76:15
telephone 55:9
teletype 27:3,9,13 28:4
telling 73:24
ten 9:11
Teresa 6:20 10:5 36:3,7
terminated 27:23
terms 12:14 41:20 53:21 57:22
59:3,7 76:6 79:20
Thanksgiving 8:8
thaw 64:16
theft 26:17 68:9
theme 36:15
Therssen 26:1
Theta 45:2
thing 48:22 50:20 51:25 65:22
67:23 75:4

things 30:5 33:17,25 34:4
41:11 44:6 46:3 59:4 60:10,13
61:1 66:25 75:23
thinking 58:23 59:9
thought 71:12
thousand 44:19 45:17
throw 74:3
throwing 74:18
thrust 52:7
Thursday 8:10,11 42:8 64:20,
24
Thursdays 8:10
tie-in 42:14
tied 65:20
time 6:1 7:15 11:2 17:10 25:9,
20 41:21 46:16 50:25 53:4
54:21 55:3 56:19 60:22 65:2,5
66:20,23,25 67:6,8 73:13
75:19 77:18,20 79:24
time's 75:2
timeline 60:9 61:5
times 60:18 68:11 74:24 78:15
tirelessly 18:12 23:7
today 4:7 7:1,6,16 9:18 14:4
18:20 62:10,12,14,17 69:12
today's 4:10 6:25 80:6
Tolbert 26:6
told 39:9 68:22 69:6,11
top 11:19 24:11,17 45:17
50:23 67:16
topic 77:16
total 65:19
totally 52:14
touch 69:1
tough 52:1
tourism 45:16
town 37:23 45:19 54:16,21,22

79:6
track 34:14,20 35:15,21 37:9 39:12,17
tracking 33:18,19 34:8,12
tracks 37:17
traffic 44:25
trained 18:17
training 37:1 39:18 67:9 74:23
transfer 31:5,17
transformation 43:10
transmit 55:25 57:2
transmitted 55:8 56:22
transparency 38:17 39:15
transpired 60:25
traveled 23:11
tremendous 22:11 24:16 43:16
trial 64:10 79:4,5
true 62:12 68:23 78:10,17
trust 39:18 72:13
truth 77:18,20
truthful 27:10,11
truthfulness 26:23 27:5 28:14
Tuesday 42:17 46:6 55:25
turn 61:23
type 49:25 52:21 60:22
types 38:19
Tyrone 74:13

U

U.S. 41:13
ultimate 28:9
ultimately 37:11,21 79:21
unable 4:10
understand 59:12 60:17 61:1,

10 65:13 78:4,10 79:14
understanding 12:2
understood 41:19
unfair 28:17,21 58:25
Unfortunate 25:1
unified 48:3
union 59:18 76:24
unions 78:16
unique 38:16 43:2
unit 18:2,3 22:3,5,22 29:14 31:6,7
United 32:12 64:25
units 30:3 32:8
University 39:7
unnecessary 8:19
untruthful 27:15 28:10 30:11, 13,15,25 31:10
untruthfulness 10:12 27:2,21 77:17,18
update 10:7,14 25:24 28:25 29:1 32:23 33:7
updated 36:10
uptick 26:17
urban 53:18
utmost 78:20

V

Valerie 70:3
Valorie 65:7
valuable 37:7 43:10
vehicle 26:7
vehicles 26:6
venue 45:4
verbatim 73:15
veteran 9:25

vibrancy 41:10
vibrate 11:1
vice 4:5,6,15 5:5,10,14,19,23, 25 7:5,8,14,21,23 11:9 12:1, 23 14:8,23 15:6,12,14,19,24 16:13,17,20,23 17:2,5,9,15 19:8,12,15 20:23 21:1,4 24:3, 20,22 25:12,16,19 26:20,25 29:2,5,21 31:21 32:2,9,17 33:9,13 35:6,13,24 46:21 47:8 48:10 49:5,13 52:22,25 53:1 54:6,11,25 56:14,17,25 57:14 58:5,13,16 59:13,21 60:7,16 61:9,17,21,24 62:18 63:10,13 64:17 67:25 68:3 69:18 70:12, 22 71:1,3,6 72:2 73:9 75:2,6, 13 77:8 78:23 79:12 80:1,5, 11,14
victim 68:8
video 65:24 78:8 79:2,7,17,18
videos 74:17 78:22,25 79:1,3, 5,6,16
view 9:17 62:7 79:3
viewed 66:5 78:8
viewing 4:8,9
violate 73:6
violence 52:5
violent 26:15
visible 49:20
visionary 41:23
visit 40:13
visitors 8:22 47:24
voice 72:24 73:4
voices 37:23 77:6
volatile 37:23 77:6
volunteer 63:20
volunteers 43:4 45:24 46:1 48:6
vote 15:25 65:18,19 76:18 78:2

voted 17:8 65:21 73:25

voting 17:7

W

Wade 26:7

wait 34:10 61:8 79:4

Waldis 25:24

walks 52:17

wanted 13:2 41:8 63:1 65:12
70:3,17

warrant 60:19

Warwick 65:7 73:11,12 75:4,7

Washington 7:3 43:13

watch 79:4

watching 76:17

water 40:8 45:9

waterfront 45:7

Wayne 46:23 78:19

website 62:5,21 70:7

week 8:7 21:17 36:13 41:7
58:8 62:13 63:3,14 77:22

weekly 8:4

weeks 8:9 24:9 55:23 56:11
62:6

welcoming 41:20 49:11

white 6:22 10:5 35:1 36:4,5,6,
9 43:5 52:14 55:19 66:1 76:16

whittles 24:15

whomever 47:22

wide 9:13

widely 28:7

wife 48:18

William 5:1

Williams 75:21

Willie 4:11,20 36:23 38:4
51:25 71:16 73:20

Wilson 7:6,7,10,13 25:21,23
26:22 33:1,7 34:3,14,25 35:19
59:24 60:17 61:13 67:6 69:20

winter 40:5 45:10

witnessed 73:19

woman 41:22

women 42:18

wondered 22:15

wonderful 54:14

words 24:4

work 9:9 13:8 14:3,6 15:4
24:13,18 33:24 34:13,18
41:24 55:3

worked 12:12 34:17

working 30:2 31:5 33:21,22
34:11 35:10 46:13,15 50:19
74:8

works 78:15

workshop 33:16 37:22 38:2,
17,22,25 49:2,3

workshops 37:5

world 40:4,20 49:9

worry 77:19,21

wound 26:1,4

wrap 79:12

wreath 40:5,8,23

write 69:5

writing 74:14

written 71:14 73:14

wrong 51:19

Wyrick 6:14 13:14 38:8 62:14,
15

X

XL 18:10 23:1

Y

year 9:5,25 24:15 25:2 27:2
37:4 39:3 43:3 49:21 59:2
60:25 61:4,11,14,15 66:10

year's 36:15,18

years 12:12 18:4,14 19:2
20:18 21:12 23:12,22 24:6,15
36:16 40:9,23 41:1,25 51:1
67:1 73:24

yesterday 58:9 62:16 69:11

York 53:8

young 21:11,19 23:5 24:6
52:4,19 79:18

yous 46:17

youth 43:20,21 44:25 45:22